

LUND UNIVERSITY

Individualized rehabilitation following breast cancer - Investigating prerequisites for screening-based individualized rehabilitation

Olsson, Ing-Marie

2025

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Olsson, I.-M. (2025). Individualized rehabilitation following breast cancer - Investigating prerequisites for screening-based individualized rehabilitation. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Health Sciences]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors: 1

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00



Investigating prerequisites for screening-based individualized rehabilitation

ING-MARIE OLSSON DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH SCIENCES | FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY



Investigating prerequisites for screening-based individualized rehabilitation

Ing-Marie Olsson



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Doctoral dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) at the Faculty of Medicine at Lund University to be publicly defended on the 21st of March at 13.00 in Belfrage Hall, Department of Health Science

> Faculty opponent Professor Maria Brovall, University of Borås, Sweden

Organization: LUND UNIVERSITY

Document name: Doctoral dissertation

Author: Ing-Marie Olsson

Date of issue: March 21 2025

Sponsoring organization:

Title and subtitle: Individualized rehabilitation following breast cancer – Investigating prerequisites for screening-based individualized rehabilitation.

Abstract:

Despite ongoing initiatives to implement national cancer rehabilitation guidelines, women with breast cancer (BC) report unmet rehabilitation needs. This thesis investigated prerequisites for screening-based individualized rehabilitation following primary BC diagnosis, treatment, and follow-up, using qualitative (I, IV) and quantitative (II, III) studies.

Study I conducted focus group interviews with healthcare professionals, exploring experiences of rehabilitation practices and barriers and facilitators for individualized rehabilitation. Inductive content analysis was applied. Facilitators included extensive competence and experience of working with BC patients, while barriers included lack of structures and knowledge.

Study II was a pilot study, examining the feasibility of the ReScreen randomized controlled trial (RCT) regarding recruitment, retention, distribution of distress, relevance of the intervention, and reported problems. The results showed that the procedures were feasible and the ReScreen intervention was relevant in this context, but the distress cut-off should be adjusted to identify extended rehabilitation needs.

Study III investigated associations between distress and demographics, clinical variables, health-related quality of life (HRQoL), and resilience using logistic regression. High distress was significantly associated with lower HRQoL, lower resilience, and several clinical and demographic variables including the modifiable variable exercise.

Study IV used focus group interviews with participants from the ReScreen RCT to comprehensively explore cancer rehabilitation experiences. Inductive and deductive content analyses were used. The inductive analysis showed great variation in experiences, emphasizing factors such as continuity, navigation, and individualized information. The deductive approach showed variation between randomization groups. Women in the intervention group mainly expressed experiences of being recognized and important, while some in the control group had felt abandoned by healthcare. The observation group mostly described fulfillment of their needs within the healthcare system.

Screening-based individualized rehabilitation requires structures that encompass factors that can affect distress, allowing optimization of support according to each person's unique context and life situation. A comprehensive, proactive, and person-centered approach to rehabilitation could contribute to this.

Key words: Breast cancer, rehabilitation, distress, screening-based, individualized, person centred care

Classification system and/or index terms (if any)

Language English

Supplementary bibliographical information:

Number of pages: 99

ISSN and key title: 1652-8220, Lund University, Faculy of Medicine, Doctoral dissertation Series 2025:27

ISBN: 978-91-8021-680-7

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Date 2025-02-03

Investigating prerequisites for screening-based individualized rehabilitation

Ing-Marie Olsson



Coverphoto by Kim Brynte Copyright pp 1-99 Ing-Marie Olsson

Paper 1 © The Authors (Open Access). Published by Springer Nature Paper 2 © The Authors (Open Access). Published by Dove Press Ltd Paper 3 © The Authors (Manuscript unpublished) Paper 4 © The Authors (Manuscript accepted)

Faculty of Medicine Department of Health Sciences

ISBN 978-91-8021-680-7 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2025



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se

MADE IN SWEDEN 📲

To all women struggling with breast cancer – you are my heroes.

Table of Contents

Abstract	10
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	11
List of Papers	14
Author's contribution to the papers	15
Abbreviations	16
Thesis at a glance	17
Introduction of the thesis	19
Theoretical framework and concepts	21
Person-centered care	21
Main concepts	24
Distress	24
Quality of life and health related quality of life	25
Background	26
Breast Cancer	26
Prevalence and prognosis	26
Diagnosis, treatment, and follow-up – the medical perspective	27
Diagnostic procedure	27
Treatment	28
Adjuvant treatment	29
Follow-up	29
Nursing – the caring perspective	30
Support from healthcare during cancer treatment	30
The contact nurse in cancer care	30
Receiving a breast cancer diagnosis – the person perspective	32
Awaiting and receiving the diagnosis	32
Experiencing side-effects from diagnosis and treatment	33
Losses, changes, and the struggle to regain daily life	33
Resources and prerequisites	34
Cancer rehabilitation	35
Definitions	35
The Swedish cancer rehabilitation process	
Knowledge of breast cancer and rehabilitation interventions	
The gap between guidelines, research, and clinical practice	39

Ontological and epistemological assumptions	
Rationale	42
Aim	43
Methods	44
Design	44
Context	45
The ReScreen study	
Complex interventions	
The development of the ReScreen study	45
The ReScreen RCT	46
Participants and data collection	48
Participants and inclusion	48
Data collection	50
Data analysis	53
My preunderstanding	53
Studies I and IV	54
Study II	55
Study III	56
Ethical considerations	57
Results	59
Summary of results	59
Summary of results Prerequisites for early screening for rehabilitation needs	59 62
Summary of results Prerequisites for early screening for rehabilitation needs Prerequisites for individualized rehabilitation	59 62 64
Summary of results Prerequisites for early screening for rehabilitation needs Prerequisites for individualized rehabilitation Discussion	59 62 64 67
Summary of results Prerequisites for early screening for rehabilitation needs Prerequisites for individualized rehabilitation Discussion Methodological considerations	59 62 64 67
Summary of results Prerequisites for early screening for rehabilitation needs Prerequisites for individualized rehabilitation Discussion Methodological considerations Trustworthiness	59 62 64 67 67 67
Summary of results Prerequisites for early screening for rehabilitation needs Prerequisites for individualized rehabilitation Discussion Methodological considerations Trustworthiness Validity	59 62 64 67 67 67 70
Summary of results Prerequisites for early screening for rehabilitation needs Prerequisites for individualized rehabilitation Discussion Methodological considerations Trustworthiness Validity Reliability	
Summary of results Prerequisites for early screening for rehabilitation needs Prerequisites for individualized rehabilitation Discussion Methodological considerations Trustworthiness Validity Reliability General discussion of results	
Summary of results Prerequisites for early screening for rehabilitation needs Prerequisites for individualized rehabilitation Discussion Methodological considerations Trustworthiness Validity Reliability General discussion of results Screening for rehabilitation needs	59 62 64 67 67 70 73 74 74
Summary of results Prerequisites for early screening for rehabilitation needs Prerequisites for individualized rehabilitation Discussion Methodological considerations Trustworthiness Validity Reliability General discussion of results Screening for rehabilitation needs Individualized rehabilitation	
Summary of results Prerequisites for early screening for rehabilitation needs Prerequisites for individualized rehabilitation Discussion Methodological considerations Trustworthiness Validity Reliability General discussion of results Screening for rehabilitation needs Individualized rehabilitation	59 62 64 67 67 70 73 74 74 75 79
Summary of results Prerequisites for early screening for rehabilitation needs Prerequisites for individualized rehabilitation Discussion Methodological considerations Trustworthiness Validity Reliability General discussion of results Screening for rehabilitation needs Individualized rehabilitation. Strengths and limitations	
Summary of results Prerequisites for early screening for rehabilitation needs Prerequisites for individualized rehabilitation Discussion Methodological considerations Trustworthiness Validity Reliability General discussion of results Screening for rehabilitation needs Individualized rehabilitation Strengths and limitations Future perspectives	59 62 64 67 67 70 73 74 74 74 75 79 80 81
Summary of results Prerequisites for early screening for rehabilitation needs Prerequisites for individualized rehabilitation Discussion Methodological considerations Trustworthiness Validity Reliability General discussion of results Screening for rehabilitation needs Individualized rehabilitation Strengths and limitations Conclusions Future perspectives	59 62 64 67 67 70 73 74 74 75 79 80 81 82

Abstract

Despite ongoing initiatives to implement national cancer rehabilitation guidelines, women with breast cancer (BC) report unmet rehabilitation needs. This thesis investigated prerequisites for screening-based individualized rehabilitation following primary BC diagnosis, treatment, and follow-up, using qualitative (I, IV) and quantitative (II, III) studies.

Study I conducted focus group interviews with healthcare professionals, exploring experiences of rehabilitation practices and barriers and facilitators for individualized rehabilitation. Inductive content analysis was applied. Facilitators included extensive competence and experience of working with BC patients, while barriers included lack of structures and knowledge.

Study II was a pilot study, examining the feasibility of the ReScreen randomized controlled trial (RCT) regarding recruitment, retention, distribution of distress, relevance of the intervention, and reported problems. The results showed that the procedures were feasible and the ReScreen intervention was relevant in this context, but the distress cut-off should be adjusted to identify extended rehabilitation needs.

Study III investigated associations between distress and demographics, clinical variables, health-related quality of life (HRQoL), and resilience using logistic regression. High distress was significantly associated with lower HRQoL, lower resilience, and several clinical and demographic variables including the modifiable variable exercise.

Study IV used focus group interviews with participants from the ReScreen RCT to comprehensively explore cancer rehabilitation experiences. Inductive and deductive content analyses were used. The inductive analysis showed great variation in experiences, emphasizing factors such as continuity, navigation, and individualized information. The deductive approach showed variation between randomization groups. Women in the intervention group mainly expressed experiences of being recognized and important, while some in the control group had felt abandoned by healthcare. The observation group mostly described fulfillment of their needs within the healthcare system.

Screening-based individualized rehabilitation requires structures that encompass factors that can affect distress, allowing optimization of support according to each person's unique context and life situation. A comprehensive, proactive, and person-centered approach to rehabilitation could contribute to this.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Bröstcancer drabbar ca 8700 personer per år i Sverige och är den vanligaste cancerformen hos kvinnor. Under senare år har utvecklingen inom området inneburit att sjukdomen upptäcks tidigare, och behandlingen har blivit effektivare. Idag överlever därmed de flesta som drabbas av bröstcancer. Detta innebär att många behöver rehabilitering och stöd för att möta potentiella långvariga och besvärliga biverkningar och konsekvenser från diagnos och behandling, såsom sömnsvårigheter, smärta. trötthet, oro, ångest, depression, förändrad kroppsuppfattning och försämrad livskvalitet. Sjukdomen drabbar kvinnor i alla åldrar och i olika livssituationer, och behovet av rehabiliteringsstöd varierat mycket. Riktlinjer för cancerrehabilitering rekommenderar personcentrerade arbetssätt. Det innebär att vården genom att identifiera behov, och möta dessa behov med individualiserade rehabiliteringsåtgärder, kan möjliggöra bäst rehabilitering för den enskilda individen. Implementeringen av dessa riktlinjer har dock visat sig vara utmanande. Många kvinnor rapporterar att de inte fått den rehabilitering som de behöver, vilket har påverkat deras återhämtning negativt. Detta innebär att rehabilitering fortfarande, trots riktlinjer som pekar på behovet av individualisering, ofta baseras på medicinska faktorer, snarare än det individuella behovet.

Tidigare studier indikerar att screening för distress, mätt med distresstermometern, kan identifiera kvinnor med behov av stöd vid bröstcancer. Distress beskrivs som en obehaglig, emotionell upplevelse av psykisk, social och/eller andlig natur, som kan hindra förmågan att hantera diagnosen samt de fysiska och psykiska symtom och problem som uppkommer till följd av cancerbehandlingen. Distresstermometern är ett självskattningsinstrument där patienten skattar sin distress på en skala mellan 0-10, där 0 motsvarar avsaknad av distress och 10 värsta tänkbara distress. Tidigare forskning har identifierat ett tröskelvärde på 7 som relevant för hög distress, och som skulle kunna innebära ett utökat behov av rehabilitering vid bröstcancer.

Denna avhandling är en del av ett större forskningsprojekt, ReScreen-studien, som genom olika faser har utvecklat och testat en intervention för screeningbaserad individualiserad rehabilitering vid bröstcancer. Med hjälp av screening av distress före start av behandling delades kvinnor med nydiagnostiserad bröstcancer upp i olika grupper beroende på hur de skattat sin distress. Alla fick ordinarie vård, vilket erbjuds till dem som drabbas av bröstcancer. Detta innebär kortfattat tillgång till en kontaktsjuksköterska och läkare som arbetar med bröstcancer. Det innebär också tillgång till fysioterapeut, och vid behov kurator. Ordinarie vård bygger på att kontakt med vården sker på patientens initiativ. De kvinnor som uppgav hög distress före start av behandling lottades till antingen en kontrollgrupp, eller en interventionsgrupp. De som uppgav låg distress utgjorde en observationsgrupp. Interventionsgruppen följdes av en forskningssjuksköterska i ett år efter behandlingsstart. Under den perioden fungerade forskningssjuksköterskan som en

kontinuerlig vårdkontakt och ansvarade för proaktiv och systematisk utvärdering av behov för att säkerställa att potentiella nya problem eller förändrade rehabiliteringsbehov identifierades i tid.

Syftet med denna avhandling är att undersöka förutsättningarna för screeningbaserad individualiserad rehabilitering vid diagnos, behandling och uppföljning av bröstcancer. Detta görs genom fyra delstudier.

Delstudie I. Genom fem gruppintervjuer med 19 hälso- och sjukvårdspersonal (sjuksköterskor, undersköterskor, fysioterapeuter, kuratorer, läkare, psykolog och sexolog) undersöktes i denna studie erfarenheter av hinder och möjligheter till individualiserad rehabilitering för patienter diagnostiserade med bröstcancer. Resultatet visade att trots gedigen erfarenhet och kunskap så saknades strukturer för hur patienter med rehabiliteringsbehov ska identifieras och mötas på ett individuellt sätt. Resultatet visade också att rehabiliteringskompetensen varierade genom vårdkedjan, samt att samarbetet mellan olika rehabiliteringskompetenser inte fungerade optimalt.

Delstudie II. I denna studie testades genomförbarheten av ReScreen-studiens randomiserade kontrollerade studie (RCT) (85 kvinnor deltog) genom en pilottestning av de processer som planerades inom studien. Syftet var att undersöka rekrytering, retention (hur många som stannar kvar i studien under studietiden), fördelningen av distress, interventionens relevans och rapporterade problem. Screening av distress med distresstermometern användes för att hitta kvinnor med utökat behov av stöd. Resultaten visade att studien var relevant i det kliniska sammanhanget och att planerade procedurer var genomförbara. Utvärderingen av fördelningen av distress bland kvinnorna i pilotstudien visade att de rapporterade lägre distress jämfört med tidigare internationella studier. Detta ledde till en justering av tröskelvärdet för distress i huvudstudien för att möjliggöra utvärdering av distresstermometerns förmåga att identifiera kvinnor i behov av utökat rehabiliteringsstöd.

Delstudie III. I denna tvärsnittsstudie med syftet att undersöka nivån av distress hos kvinnor med nydiagnostiserad bröstcancer utvärderades sambandet mellan hög distress och demografiska och kliniska data, resiliens och hälsorelaterad livskvalitet. Preliminära resultat visar samband mellan hög distress och lägre livskvalitet och resiliens. Detta skulle kunna betyda att distresstermometern kan hitta dem med behov av mer rehabiliteringsstöd. Det fanns också samband mellan hög distress och flera faktorer för demografiska och kliniska variabler, så som lägre självskattad ekonomisk situation, lägre ålder, lägre träningsmängd per vecka och psykisk sjukdom i hälsohistorien.

Studie IV. Studien genomfördes med gruppintervjuer med kvinnor som hade deltagit i ReScreen-studiens RCT. Genom 9 intervjuer med totalt 30 kvinnor undersöktes kvinnornas erfarenheter av cancerrehabilitering efter deltagande i ReScreen-studien. Intervjuerna genomfördes uppdelade i grupper beroende på vilken grupp de tillhört i RCT-studien. Resultatet visade på en stor variation i upplevelser och behov där mötet med sjukvårdens organisation stämmer olika väl överens med den personliga processen. En del kvinnor beskriver en välfungerande process, andra beskriver avsaknad av individanpassad information, avsaknad av kontinuitet och tydliga kontaktvägar för rehabiliteringsstöd och vägledning. Kvinnor i interventionsgruppen uttryckte att ett proaktivt förhållningssätt och möjlighet att ställa frågor gav trygghet och möjliggjorde vägledning. De kände sig sedda och viktiga, medan kvinnor i kontrollgruppen beskrev känslor av att ha blivit övergivna av vården. Observationsgruppen uttryckte oftare att deras behov hade blivit tillgodosedda inom befintligt hälso- och sjukvårdssystem.

Sammanfattningsvis så visar avhandlingen på vikten av strukturer för identifiering av rehabiliteringsbehov genom hela vårdkedjan, liksom vikten av ett individualiserat bemötande och stöd. Avhandlingen visar också att redan tidigt i förloppet finns en skillnad i distressnivå som speglar sig bland annat i livskvalitet och olika demografiska och kliniska faktorer. Detta spelar roll för vad hälso-och sjukvårdspersonal behöver vara uppmärksamma på, och vilket stöd den enskilda kvinnan behöver.

List of Papers

Paper I

Olsson Möller U, Olsson IM, Sjövall K, Beck I, Rydén L, Malmström M. Barriers and facilitators for individualized rehabilitation during breast cancer treatment - a focus group study exploring health care professionals' experiences. BMC Health Serv Res. 2020 Mar 26;20(1):252. doi: 10.1186/s12913-020-05107-7. PMID: 32216786; PMCID: PMC7098158.

Paper II

Olsson IM, Malmström M, Rydén L, Olsson Möller U. Feasibility and Relevance of an Intervention with Systematic Screening as a Base for Individualized Rehabilitation in Breast Cancer Patients: A Pilot Trial of the ReScreen Randomized Controlled Trial. J Multidiscip Healthc. 2022 May 10;15:1057-1068. doi: 10.2147/JMDH.S355055. PMID: 35586080; PMCID: PMC9109980.

Paper III

Olsson IM, Olsson Möller U, Velickovic K, Rydén L, Bendahl P-O, Malmström M. Factors associated with distress among women newly diagnosed with breast cancer – a cross-sectional study based on baseline data from the ReScreen study. In manuscript.

Paper IV

Olsson IM, Dykes C, Rydén L, Olsson Möller U, Malmström M. Experiences of rehabilitation one year after breast cancer diagnosis – A focus group study from the ReScreen randomized controlled trial. Accepted for publication in PLOS One.

Author's contribution to the papers

Paper I

The author actively participated in the analysis and manuscript preparation and contributed to the discussions during the submission process.

Paper II

The author actively participated in data management and analysis, and was responsible for statistical analysis, manuscript preparation, and the submission process, supported by supervisors.

Paper III

The author was responsible for planning the study and processing the database. The author was also responsible for the statistical analysis and manuscript preparation, continuously supported by supervisors and statistician.

Paper IV

The author independently led the research process including data collection, supported by supervisors, and had a leading role in discussions of study design and analysis methods. The author was responsible for the analysis, manuscript preparation, and decision-making during the publication process.

Abbreviations

AIC	The Akaike information criterion
BC	Breast cancer
CG	Control group
CI	Confidence interval
CNCC	Contact nurse in cancer care
DST	Decision support tool
DT	Distress thermometer
EORTC	European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer
ESMO	European Society for Medical Oncology
НСР	Healthcare professional
HRQoL	Health related quality of life
IG	Intervention group
MDTM	Multidisciplinary team meetings
NCCN	National Comprehensive Cancer Network
NCRG	National cancer rehabilitation guidelines
OG	Observation group
OR	Odds ratio
PCC	Person centered care
QoL	Quality of life
RCT	Randomized controlled trial
SD	Standard deviation
WHO	World Health Organisation

Thesis at a glance

Study	Aims	Methods	Results
	To explore healthcare professionals experiences of current rehabilitation practice and describe current barriers and facilitators for individualized rehabilitation for patients following breast cancer treatment.	Five explorative qualitative focus group interviews were conducted with 19 health care professionals. The analysis was performed using conventional content analysis with an inductive approach.	Three categories and 8 sub-categories were identified. A varying attitude towards rehabilitation, incongruence in how to identify and meet rehabilitation needs, and suboptimal collaboration during cancer treatment appeared in the result.
" 7 🔿 5	To examine recruitment, retention, distribution of distress, relevance of the intervention, and reported problems in a pilot trial of the ReScreen study.	A feasibility and pilot study involving 85 women with breast cancer was conducted. Analyses utilized descriptive statistics	Satisfactory inclusion and data collection rates, and few systematic errors indicated feasible procedures. The result indicated that the cut-off level needed to be reviewed before the main study.
TT	To investigate the level of distress in newly diagnosed breast cancer patients and the association with demographics, clinical data, resilience, and HRQoL.	A prospective, cross- sectional study involving 633 women with breast cancer was conducted. Univariable and multivariable regression models were used to investigate associations with high distress.	High distress was associated with lower HRQoL and resilience. In a prediction model, low exercise level, bad financial situation, symptom mode of detection, younger age, having few children, not being on beta blockers, and history of psychiatric disease were associated with high distress.
	To explore the experiences of women with breast cancer after participating in a complex randomized controlled trial focusing on cancer rehabilitation from a comprehensive perspective.	Nine explorative focus group interviews were conducted with 30 women with breast cancer. The analysis was perfomed using conventional content analysis with both an inductive and a deductive approach.	Two categories and 4 sub-categories were identified, and an overall theme. Factors such as navigation, continuity, and individualized support were crucial during the rehabilitation process. Variations appeared between the groups.

Table 1. Overview of studies included in the thesis

Introduction of the thesis

Today, breast cancer (BC) is the most prevalent cancer among women worldwide (1). In Sweden, more than one in ten women are diagnosed with the disease at some point in their lives (2). Thanks to screening programs that enable early detection and improved multimodal treatments, the prognosis has dramatically improved in recent decades (3, 4). Consequently, a growing number of survivors are facing life after BC.

BC affects women of various ages and life stages, presenting them with a potentially deadly disease and a new reality affected by diagnosis and treatment. Studies indicate that many women recover and regain quality of life (QoL) levels comparable to the general population (5). However, both short-term and long-term consequences are frequently reported, impacting physical, psychological, social, and existential aspects of life. This highlights the need for individualized rehabilitation to be integrated early, and to continue throughout the cancer journey and into survivorship. Experiences and needs are highly individual, underscoring the necessity for rehabilitation support with an individualized approach.

Swedish law (6) mandates that the overall responsibility for cancer rehabilitation lies with the regional services. The fact that women with BC still report unmet rehabilitation needs, despite national guidelines, indicates the absence of structures to identify needs and structures for evidence-based rehabilitation. This gap potentially leads to prolonged recovery and suffering.

The four studies included in this thesis are part of the ReScreen study, a complex intervention study aiming to develop and evaluate a model for screening-based individualized rehabilitation following treatment for primary BC (7). The overall aim of this thesis was to investigate the prerequisites for screening-based individualized rehabilitation following primary BC diagnosis, treatment, and follow-up. Study I examined barriers and facilitators for individualized rehabilitation from the perspective of healthcare professionals (HCP). Study II evaluated the feasibility of the ReScreen randomized controlled trial (RCT), as well as the cut-off for distress to identify rehabilitation needs. Study III investigated the prevalence of distress and its associations with demographic factors, clinical factors, health related quality of life (HRQoL) and resilience. Finally, Study IV explored patients' experiences of rehabilitation after participation in the ReScreen study.

The primary focus within this thesis is the individual woman affected by BC, and her unique journey from diagnosis to follow-up, often marked by the consequences and side-effects of treatment. Before delving into the journey experienced by women with BC, key concepts that recur throughout this thesis will be described to establish a foundational framework.

Theoretical framework and concepts

Person-centered care

The World Health Organization (WHO) envisions a future in which all people have access to health services that are provided in a way that responds to their life course needs and preferences, and that are coordinated, safe, effective, timely, and of acceptable quality (8). This incorporates not only the narrow, personal perspective, but also the organizational perspective. The personal perspective in healthcare is of utmost importance, but it is also the responsibility of organizations to create person-centered cultures (9).

In Swedish healthcare, person-centered care (PCC) is expected to be the guide for the delivery of care and rehabilitation. This is supported by the Swedish Patient Act (10) which establishes that healthcare shall be designed and carried out in consultation with the patient; this means that the patient's experiences, wishes, and needs must be respected. In Sweden, PCC has been defined as an ethic which guides the HCP's practical actions both as a fellow human and as a professional, and includes a partnership between the patient/next of kin and the professionals within healthcare and rehabilitation (11). The concept of PCC is widely used, but is often described as complex, and there is no consensus in the literature regarding its definition (12).

The most fundamental aspect of PCC is the importance of understanding more about a person with a disease than solely how the body functions. This is crucial not only for making an accurate diagnosis, but also for creating conditions that promote longterm health, psychological wellbeing, and autonomy (13). This distinction is illuminated within the concepts of illness and disease, where disease refers to a condition affecting an organ, whereas illness is experienced by the person. Illness includes the patient's subjective response to being unwell, which affects both the patient and those around them, influencing behaviors and relationships (14). The holistic view of a person encompasses physical and psychological aspects as well as the social and cultural context. This means that every individual should be seen as more than just a patient with a disease; it is essential to understand their entire life situation and their personal striving for well-being (15).

In this thesis, the framework for person-centered nursing developed by McCormack and McCance (2006) is used to address the components of PCC (16). The

framework incorporates both the organizational and personal aspects, and consists of the four constructs described below (17). While the framework focuses on the nurse in relation to the patient and nursing, it is reasonable to assume that the constructs are equally relevant for all HCPs involved in the team supporting a person with BC in rehabilitation. The four constructs consist of prerequisites of the nurse (or, in this thesis, HCP in a broader sense), the care environment, the personcentered process, and the expected outcome (Figure 1).



Figure 1. The four constructs of person-centered nursing. McCormack B, McCance T. The Person-Centred Nursing Framework. In: Dewing J, McCormack B, McCance, editors. Person-centred Nursing Research: Methodology, Methods and Outcomes. Cham: Springer Nature Switzerland AG; 2021 (17). Reproduced with permission from Springer Nature.

The central construct – a good care experience – is the key outcome of the framework, and should be evaluated from both the patient's and the HCP's perspective. The experience of good care reflects the quality of the three other constructs. Attributes of the HCPs, such as being professionally competent and having developed interprofessional skills, enable the patient to manage the care environment. This environment includes, for example, supportive organizational

systems and an appropriate skill mix. These elements are prerequisites for delivering PCC through the person-centered process.

Within the PCC framework, the holistic view of a person is the basic ingredient. McCormack and McCance (2021) discuss five perspectives that are essential for how a person constructs life: being in relation, being in a social world, being with self, being in place, and being in time (17). Awareness of each person's individual being is crucial, as is the individual experience of life. Van Manen (2014) explains experiences as being related to basic existential aspects of life, represented by lived self-other, lived body, lived space, lived time, and lived things. These aspects provide a way to understand how a person experiences their living world and how they relate to themselves and others. For example, the body is not just a physical object, but also a tool to express feelings and identity (18). The woman with BC faces several challenges that potentially interfere with life in multiple areas, and so her personal constructs and experiences of life are crucial for how rehabilitation can be tailored to her unique experience and need.

A person's being and experience of life is fundamental, but the framework also highlights the importance of organizational structures to facilitate PCC. Research emphasizes the importance of establishing routines in daily clinical practice. While the framework of McCormack & McCance forms the theoretical base of PCC components in this thesis (17), the framework of Ekman et al. (2011) supports the daily practice and routine. The routine builds on a partnership between the HCP and the patient through the patient's narrative, shared decision-making, and documentation (19). This represents the person-centered process within McCormack and McCane's framework (17).

In the context of rehabilitation, Lepleige et al. (2007) concluded that PCC is important for successful rehabilitation. The person-centered approach is described as individualized, tailored, and including the flexibility and capacity to adjust when needs change, this means that interventions should be tailored for specific individuals and their evolving needs, instead of systematically adhering to rigid policies (20). This approach is the foundation of this thesis. Studies I–III investigated prerequisites for individualized rehabilitation with HCPs and within the organization, while Study IV explored the rehabilitation experience of women with BC.

Within this thesis, the woman with BC will mostly be referred to as a "person" or "woman with BC", but in some contexts the word "patient" will be used. The intention is always to express the greatest possible respect for the individual woman affected by BC.

Main concepts

Distress

Distress is a central concept in this thesis. It is highly prevalent among women with BC throughout the trajectory of diagnosis, treatment, and follow-up, research has suggested a pooled prevalence of 52% (21). The consequences of distress in women with BC such as non-adherence to treatment (22) and poorer social adjustment (23), highlight distress as an important factor to identify and intervene on.

The concept of distress has developed over the years. According to the Oxford English Dictionary, the meaning of the word is the sore pressure or strain of adversity, sickness, sorrow, trouble, or pain; anguish or affliction affecting the body, spirit, or community (24). Even though the word is widely used in the healthcare literature (25), the concept has not been clearly articulated, and there is a divergence between conceptual and operational definitions (25, 26). The term "distress" predominantly refers to psychological issues (27), and the literature often addresses emotional constructs such as anxiety and depression as attributes of distress (25, 26).

This thesis aligns with the definition of distress from the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN), defining distress as a multifactorial and unpleasant experience of a psychological, social, spiritual, and/or physical nature that may interfere with the ability to cope effectively with cancer, related physical symptoms, and treatment. Distress extends along a continuum, ranging from common normal feelings of sadness, vulnerability, and fears to problems that can become disabling, such as depression, anxiety, social isolation, panic and existential and spiritual crisis (28). The NCCN chose "distress" as an umbrella term for emotional concerns among patients affected with cancer (27) because it was considered to be less embarrassing and stigmatizing as well as more acceptable and normal than words such as "psychiatric", "psychosocial", or "emotional" (28). Importantly, numerous factors contribute to the emotional constructs within the concept of distress, such as the emotional and social challenges of receiving a cancer diagnosis, physical symptoms, and decreased functional status interfering with daily living (29). Other aspects suggested to cause distress are the presence of stressors, demands and unmet needs, along with loss of control and ineffective coping (25).

Recent research investigating distress during BC treatment suggests that distress may serve as an indicator of needs that require rehabilitation interventions (30, 31). It is therefore important to explore optimal ways of measuring distress in order to identify women in need of rehabilitation. Research suggests screening for risk factors (21) and predictors of distress (32), such as certain sociodemographic characteristics, symptoms related to treatment, and living habits. The distress thermometer (DT) is a clinically relevant and easy to use instrument for measuring

distress, developed by the NCCN (33), which has been shown to be valid in cancer contexts to identify distress (34-37). This instrument has a central role in the ReScreen RCT and will be described in the Methods section.

Quality of life and health related quality of life

QoL and HRQoL are also central concepts in this thesis. There is no consensus on the definitions of either concept, despite extensive efforts (38). According to the WHO, QoL is the individual's perception of positions in life, in the context of culture and value systems in which they live, and in relation to their goals, standards, expectations, and concerns (39). Fayers and Machin (2016) state that QoL means different things to different people, and that the meaning depends on the area of application (40). In the context of health, the impact of a disease on QoL is referred to as HRQoL, and includes the physical, psychological, and social functioning of a person (41). HRQoL has been suggested to be the gap between our expectations of health and our experience of it (42).

There are numerous studies investigating the effect of BC diagnosis and treatment on HRQoL (43), as well as numerous instruments developed to measure HRQoL in cancer contexts. Two commonly-used and well-validated instruments were used in this thesis (Studies II and III), the QLQ-C30, which assesses functional health, symptom burden, and HRQoL in cancer contexts in general (41) and the QLQ-BR23, which assesses the same constructs in BC (44). These instruments will be described in the Methods section.

Background

In this section, the BC process will be presented in the order in which it is experienced by the affected woman. The medical perspective is described first, including the diagnostic procedure, the diagnosis, presentation of possible treatment recommendations, and follow-up (Figure 2). Nursing support from healthcare is then described, followed by the most important thing: the experiences of women with BC. Both medical aspects and the individual journey are essential to consider in cancer rehabilitation. This section also gives a description of the structures and challenges involved in providing rehabilitation based on individual needs, underscoring the importance of a person-centered approach.



Breast Cancer

Prevalence and prognosis

Among women worldwide, BC is both the most frequently diagnosed cancer and the leading cause of cancer deaths (1). In Sweden, BC is the second leading cause of cancer deaths among women, and 8700 women were diagnosed with the disease in 2021 (45). The incidence has increased in recent decades, but thanks to both improved diagnostic procedures and treatment, fortunately the prognosis has improved. In the 1980s, the 5-year relative survival rate was only 74%, compared to 93% today (45). The current 10-year relative survival rate is 88% (46).

Diagnosis, treatment, and follow-up – the medical perspective

Diagnostic procedure

The diagnostic procedure for BC starts either due to symptoms from the breast, – most commonly a lump, or fluid from the nipple, referred to as symptomatic (47)(chap 8) – or through the BC screening program. In Sweden mammography screening for BC is recommended every 18–24 months for women aged 40–74 (48), and approximately 60% of all BC cases in this age group are detected within the screening program (49). When there is a well-founded suspicion of BC, a standardized cancer patient pathway for BC treatment is begun, with the aim of providing well-organized, holistically-oriented, professional care without unnecessary waiting time (50).

Triple diagnostics are the gold standard when assessing a suspected BC: clinical examination, radiological assessments (mammography and ultrasound of breast and axilla), and biopsy (47)(chap 9). The results from the diagnostic investigations provide important information that supports the decision regarding the best treatment options for each patient (51-53) and allow treatment to be tailored to the properties of the tumour.

The results of the diagnostic modalities are discussed in a multidisciplinary team meeting (MDTM) that guides further diagnostic procedures and treatment recommendations. Participants in the MDTM should consist of a surgeon and an oncologist both specialized in BC, a breast radiologist, a pathologist, and a contact nurse in cancer care (CNCC). For primary BC, the aim of the multidisciplinary cooperation is to ensure optimal diagnostics and treatment to cure BC, and so an MDTM takes place both before and after surgery (47)(chap 11). Patient involvement in the MDTM is currently not practiced, and research has highlighted the significant challenges of incorporating the patient perspective during MDTMs (54). The patient's preferences, individual prerequisites, and social situation can contribute and influence treatment decisions (51, 55). This underscores the responsibility of both the physician and the nurse to ensure that information about medical treatment options is understandable by the patient, and to consider the patient's individual prerequisites and context in treatment decisions.

Treatment

Treatment of BC is complex and involves combinations of different modalities such as surgery, radiotherapy, and systemic anticancer treatments (55, 56).

Surgery of the breast

Surgery is an important part of BC treatment, and often the first step in the multi modal treatment process. Patient participation is of utmost importance when surgical treatment is planned, as the patient's wishes must be considered (47).

There are two ways to perform breast surgery: mastectomy, which removes all breast tissue including breast skin and often the nipple-areola complex, and breast-conserving surgery, which removes only the tumour and a certain amount of healthy breast tissue around the tumor. Numerous studies have shown that there are no differences in survival when comparing breast-conserving surgery with radiotherapy and mastectomy (57, 58), and current international consensus guidelines recommend mastectomy to be performed only if breast-conserving surgery is not safe or feasible (59). If mastectomy is the best option, the patient should be objectively informed about mastectomy without and with reconstruction, including individual prerequisites for immediate or delayed reconstruction (47)(chap 13).

Resent research comparing the effects of breast-conserving surgery or mastectomy with or without reconstruction on, for example, HRQoL, body image, and self-esteem has produced results in favor of breast conserving surgery (60, 61).

Surgery of the axilla

If the tumor is invasive, the surgical procedure includes surgical staging of the axilla, which is important for the diagnostic procedure to guide the postoperative treatment and for prognostic information. Today, sentinel lymph node biopsy is the standard procedure for staging, where the first lymph nodes (mostly 1–4 nodes) draining the tumor are identified and extirpated (62). For the patient, this includes a preoperative procedure where a tracer is injected in the breast. Recent results from the randomized SENOMAC trial (63) have already been implemented into clinical practice in Sweden, leading to fewer full axillary lymph node dissections (including 10–30 lymph nodes) even for patients with metastatic sentinel lymph nodes. This de-escalation decreases the risk of morbidity after axillar surgery (64), though the risk of consequences from surgery in the axilla remains.

Adjuvant treatment

Radiation therapy

All patients undergoing breast-conserving surgery are recommended postoperative local radiation therapy. Node-negative patients receive radiotherapy localized to the breast only, while node-positive patients receive radiotherapy including both the breast and the regional lymph nodes, (locoregional radiotherapy). In patients undergoing mastectomy, radiation therapy is recommended for node-positive patients, whose tumors have certain properties, such as tumor size > 5 cm. Radiotherapy both reduces the risk of local recurrence, and improves survival (65).

Chemotherapy

In Sweden, approximately 40% of all patients with invasive BC receive some form of chemotherapy (66). Chemotherapy is recommended depending on the stage and biology of the tumor, and the patient's biology, preferences, and life situation (56). The treatments mostly involve a combination of different cytotoxic drugs that kill rapidly growing cells. This includes not only cancer cells, but also hair, skin, and gastrointestinal tract cells, leading to a number of troublesome side-effects, that can severely impact everyday life (47)(chap 15).

Sometimes preoperative chemotherapy is the primary treatment, either due to treatment-predictive factors of the tumor, or when aiming to enable breast-conserving surgery through downsizing of the tumor (47, 67)(chap 12).

Endocrine therapy

Hormone receptor positive BC represents approximately 80-90% of all BC (47)(chap 10). Treatment with endocrine therapy such as tamoxifen or aromatase inhibitors reduces both local recurrence and mortality rates (68), and should be given to all patients with estrogen-receptor positive BC (47). Tamoxifen is an antiestrogen drug, that blocks the effect of estrogen on target organs (69) and is recommended to premenopausal women. Postmenopausal women are recommended aromatase inhibitors, which hinder estrogen syntheses (70). The treatment is recommended for 5–10 years depending on the stage of the tumour at diagnosis, and has a wide range of possible side-effects.

Follow-up

It is not always clear when the transition to follow-up care begins, as curative BC treatment can continue for an extended period. Follow-up examinations after a BC diagnosis aim to detect curable locoregional recurrences, but also to monitor side-effects and optimize compliance with additional treatments. Routine practice in Sweden includes a planned 1-year follow-up mammography combined with a visit to a BC unit. There are local differences in how the 1-year visit is carried out, and

research is ongoing to compare the traditional visit to a physician with a nurse-led telephone follow-up. The 1-year follow-up can then be followed by regular cancer screenings (47)(chap 27).

Nursing – the caring perspective

Support from healthcare during cancer treatment

Research indicates that for patients with cancer, a sense of control and safety is paramount during their treatment. This encompasses feeling secure within themselves, in their relationships with family and friends, and within the healthcare system (71). In Sweden, an increasing number of cancer treatments are now administered in outpatient clinics or patients' homes rather than during hospital stays. While this approach may benefit patients, it also reduces opportunities for HCPs to provide information about treatment, expected outcomes, and side-effects (72) as it decreases the amount of time the person with cancer spends in places such as hospitals or outpatient clinics where they can meet HCPs with specialized knowledge of cancer. Consequently, patients bear greater responsibility both for coordinating their care, and for understanding and managing the side-effects and consequences of their cancer treatment (73).

As stated above, in BC care today, surgery is mostly performed in day surgery units, chemotherapy and radiotherapy are administered in outpatient clinics, and hormone therapy is an ongoing treatment in the patient's everyday life. Consequently, the person with BC mostly experiences living with the illness outside healthcare, and planned appointments with HCPs are few and often with a medical focus. Medical treatment and follow-up in general are based on the properties of the tumor, and there is often a vagueness or lack regarding a person-centered, individualized support approach that takes into account both the person's unique experience, and their context, history, family, and individual strengths and weaknesses (19). Limited time with the patient in today's specialized healthcare requires support structures that facilitate identification of treatment-related needs in a person-centered way, to enable the person to feel safe and in control during the BC process. In Sweden, the responsibility for identifying these needs predominantly lies with the CNCC.

The contact nurse in cancer care

One of the goals in the Swedish National Cancer Strategy (74) is that every patient with cancer should be assigned a dedicated HCP, such as a contact nurse, referred to as a contact nurse in cancer care (CNCC). The CNCC is suggested to be the main care contact and care provider with a holistic responsibility for patients and next of

kin, ensuring patients' involvement in their care. The assignment consists of factors related to high-quality information, availability, coordination, and support as well as assessment of needs, interventions, and follow-up. It is also stated that the CNCC shall enable individualized cancer information by considering individual prerequisites such as age, level of education, language, and religious and cultural features. The assignment is described in a national role description (75) but every care unit is required to clarify the assignment on a local level. The CNCC is supposed to meet the patient before start of cancer treatment in order to initiate a CNCC–patient relationship that continues during the treatment trajectory and follow-up.

In the context of BC, the CNCC meets the affected woman at the time of diagnosis. The CNCC provides information and support based on both the structures within the care units, and the needs expressed by the patient. The goal is to maintain continuity from diagnosis through follow-up. However, this continuity is not always achieved, due to structural issues within the units or the broader healthcare system. For instance, surgery might be performed in one unit while oncological treatment occurs in another. The extent to which a woman with BC needs support from a CNCC is individual, while the flexibility and availability of the CNCC are determined by structures on the local level.

During the past decade there has been a growing body of research in relation to CNCCs both nationally and internationally, even though the name and description of the role may differ in different contexts. A national report from 2016 illuminated the importance of the local organization in enabling fulfillment of the assignment (76). The same report showed that the role of the CNCC differed between cancer units, and that many patients did not have access to holistic rehabilitation support through a CNCC, leading to unequal care.

A recent international study concluded that the ambiguity of the role can result in confusion and underutilization of specialized skills (77), which emphasizes the importance of clarity, structures, and prerequisites to perform the role in the local setting. In a recent national study, inconsistencies were shown regarding both the CNCCs perception of their services and the organizational prerequisites to fulfill the assignment. The study also revealed an association between organizational prerequisites and moral stress (78) indicating a lack of opportunities to provide the patient with the support that the CNCC considered necessary. The patient's experience of the role has also been investigated, showing that even though not all patients with cancer have access to a CNCC (79), access to a CNCC has increased overall. However, the above mentioned recent national study revealed that approximately one in three CNCCs had no contact with patients 3–6 months or 6–12 months after primary treatment (78).

In summary, organizational prerequisites to fulfill the assignment of the CNCC on the local level seem to differ, and the continuous support during treatment may not always be in accordance with the role description and patients' needs. This affects persons with BC who need support throughout the cancer process.

Receiving a breast cancer diagnosis – the person perspective

Women treated for BC often describe the journey as an emotional roller coaster that entails both physical and psychological side-effects, sometimes leading to changes in body image, identity, and social situation (Figure 3).



Figure 3. The experienced BC journey. Illustration: Katarina Jandér

Awaiting and receiving the diagnosis

It is known that HRQoL among women newly diagnosed with BC is lower compared to the general population (80), and that the prevalence of distress and symptoms such as anxiety and depression is high (81, 82). According to the literature, even the first suspicion of a tumor in the breast heralds a life-changing situation, and after diagnosis there are feelings of chaos, loss of control, and threat to life, but also a will to live (83), along with uncertainty and fear regarding planned treatment (83, 84).

Concerns about the BC having already spread are common (85, 86), as are worries about family and financial situations (87). The need to manage the situation according to personal preferences highlights the importance of recognizing individual needs and strategies.

Experiencing side-effects from diagnosis and treatment

The initial feeling of shock and chaos after diagnosis are described as changing during the period of treatment, into something to live through (83). This is accompanied by acceptance of the situation (85). However, the multimodal treatment often leads to a complex mix of consequences and side-effects that can affect daily life in several ways.

The complexity of symptoms, their origins, and manifestations can be exemplified by the symptom of pain. Pain (88) and neuropathic pain (89) in BC are frequently discussed in large reviews, while qualitative research provides additional context and consequences. For instance, the feeling of swelling, tightness, and tenderness in the breast after surgery and radiotherapy can lead to uncertainty (90), while pain in the muscles or joints related to endocrine therapy (91, 92) can make it difficult to get out of bed in the morning (93). Upper limb morbidity resulting from surgery and/or radiotherapy often includes pain, and may produce limitations in arm function. This, in turn, leads to decreased QoL (94) and affects the ability to return to work (95).

Some symptoms and consequences are directly related to specific treatments. Lymphedema is a consequence of surgery and radiotherapy (96), while hair loss, mouth sores, and taste changes are common during chemotherapy (97). Chemotherapy can also cause poly neuropathy (98, 99) and cardiotoxicity (100), potentially leading to severe long-term severe consequences. Hot flashes (91, 92), vaginal dryness (91), and weight gain (101) are associated with endocrine therapy.

Other common consequences often arise because of various treatments, but are also due to individual reactions to the situation. Examples includes fatigue (86, 92, 97, 101, 102), sleep disturbance (97, 103, 104), loss of sexual interest (92, 97), and concentration problems (97, 101). These consequences often have a significant impact on daily life. Moreover, consequences such as anxiety, depression (105), fear of recurrence (106, 107), and cognitive impairments (108) add to the complexity of side-effects and consequences. This clearly shows that the women are affected physically, psychologically, existentially, and socially, and illustrates the complexity of symptoms and their effects on experiences and needs during BC rehabilitation.

Losses, changes, and the struggle to regain daily life

The feeling of different aspects of loss among women with BC is frequently described in the literature. Loss of control is mentioned, stemming from the uncertainty of treatment outcomes or how the treatment will affect them (86). Loss of identity (93), and femininity (85) are also commonly reported, often related to changes in body image due to surgery, treatment consequences, and side effects. Examples include hair loss (86, 90), mastectomy (85), scars, asymmetry in breast
size causing insecurity about clothing choices (90), weight gain (90, 93), and dry mucous membranes affecting libido and sexual health (86, 90, 93).

The change in body image encompasses several limitations in daily life, including impaired social relationships, intimate relationships, and sexuality, which negatively affect women's emotional wellbeing (109). Younger women are also affected by loss of the potential to have children (110), which affects not only their identity and femininity but also their relationships (86, 90).

Despite this, research indicates that many women affected by BC regain HRQoL levels comparable to the general population (5). However, symptoms and experiences continue to impact their lives post-treatment, particularly when resuming important activities and life roles.

A common theme in qualitative research is the importance of regaining a sense of normalcy (111) and maintaining normal life (112), as well as the struggle to achieve this. Besides the difficulties discussed above, symptoms such as pain, fatigue, and impaired concentration can persist and affect daily life even years after treatment (113). Moreover, as endocrine therapy can continue for up to 5–10 years, so too can its side-effects (93). Persistent symptoms create a need for clear guidance and information on the available support and resources (111, 114). The absence of such support and guidance can lead to insecurity (90), resulting in uncertainty about recovery and affecting the ability to cope independently (93, 115) which hampers the ability to return to daily life. Unfortunately, studies have repeatedly found that women treated for BC experience a sense of being abandoned by healthcare at the end of primary treatment (90, 114, 116-118). This can clearly have a negative impact both on recovery and on the ability to regain some sort of normalcy.

Resources and prerequisites

The literature provides examples of how persons with BC handle the situation differently, as well as of strategies they use to cope. Most people's lives include the experience of both mildly and significantly stressful events, but reactions to these events differ; some people seem to experience highly stressful events as debilitating, others recover after a while, and some seem not to be strongly affected by even very challenging events. The ability to handle highly stressful events is reflected in the concept of resilience. Resilience is described as the capacity to positively adapt to stressful situations, such as a BC diagnosis (119). Some women with BC describe maintenance of a positive attitude and outlook on life, leading to acceptance, self-development, appreciation, and different priorities. Previous experiences of dealing with suffering or illness are described as beneficial in handling the situation of BC. In contrast, other women report feelings of pessimism and preparation for the worst (111). The choice to balance and adjust daily life to cope with symptoms such as fatigue, has been described (90), and descriptions of how to find strength again

include the choice to take action for improving well-being. This often involves the resumption of daily life – returning to one's work, exercise, and hobbies – as examples of participating in normal activities (83, 111).

An essential factor in coping with BC is the presence of a robust social network and social support (86, 118, 120). Family and friends are consistently identified as significant sources of support throughout the BC journey, along with support from other women who have experienced BC (90). Consequently, a lack of social support can make the journey more challenging, and the diagnosis and treatment may sometimes strain relationships with family and friends. Additionally, many women emphasize the importance of their family's well-being (118), which can sometimes exacerbate the burden of the situation.

In summary, even though some women find strength and ways to cope with BC within their resources, individualized support and rehabilitation from health care remain important and essential for many women throughout the BC trajectory. Cancer rehabilitation specifically aims to address impairments caused by a cancer diagnosis and related treatment. This will be described in the following section.

Cancer rehabilitation

Definitions

The European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO) considers patients to have a right to cancer rehabilitation as well as cancer treatment. Cancer rehabilitation is aimed at minimizing side-effects, optimizing QoL, and helping patients to regain normalcy in life (121). This thesis aligns with the Swedish national cancer rehabilitation guidelines (NCRG) which define cancer rehabilitation as interventions based on a person's needs and conditions, that are intended to prevent functional impairments and ensure that the person maintains or regains the best possible functional capacity, activity capacity, QoL, and active participation in community life despite the consequences of cancer and cancer treatment (122)(chap 4). This definition is an updated version; before 2023, the definition included the aim of preventing and reducing the physical, psychological, social, and existential consequences of cancer and its treatment. The holistic approach, which is now well described in the context of cancer rehabilitation within the NCRG guidelines, enables a broad and comprehensive assessment of needs and planning of interventions (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Needs and efforts based on physical, psychological, social, and existential areas of life according to the NCRG (122)(chap 5). In Swedish.

Cancer rehabilitation is closely integrated with preventive measures, medical measures, and nursing interventions, with a person-centered approach as a basis. The NCRG aims to complement diagnosis specific national cancer care guidelines, and contribute to a person-centered, equal, resource-efficient, and evidence-based cancer rehabilitation nationally. The first guidelines were published in 2014, followed by updated versions that have developed at focus on the person being offered rehabilitation measures based on their needs and situation, including the importance of follow-up (123).

The complex situation described by women with BC, including advanced treatments and related side-effects, demands a comprehensive and individualized approach for rehabilitation and support from healthcare. The holistic approach described above is of the utmost importance.

The Swedish cancer rehabilitation process

The NCRG constitutes a valuable source of knowledge including physical, psychological, social, and existential interventions. According to the NCRG, cancer rehabilitation should be organized on three levels depending on the complexity of rehabilitation needs: basic, specialized, and advanced level of rehabilitation (122) (chap 5) (Figure 5).



Grundläggande insatser Personcentrerat bemötande Information via Min vårdplan Behovsbedömning/kartläggning Rådgivning, planering och uppfölining

Figure 5. Interventions for cancer rehabilitation on the basic, specialized and advanced level according to the NCRG (122)(chap 5). In Swedish.

The basic level of rehabilitation

The NCRG recommend that all patients affected by cancer should be included in **the basic level** of rehabilitation when they receive the diagnosis. Here, the holistic perspective and the individual patient's prerequisites, resources, and needs are intended to be identified and guide support on the right level for rehabilitation. On this level, the intention behind giving basic advice on living habits and information about, for example, examinations, planned care and treatment, risks, side-effects, and rehabilitation. Physician, CNCC, and patient can form a team, and next of kin can also be involved with the patient's permission. The foundation of this level should be the structured mapping of needs that decides the individual rehabilitation. Since rehabilitation needs change during the disease course, assessments of needs should be repeated continuously. The CNCC is important on this level, and should act as the continuous contact responsible for the structured mapping of needs. Within BC care, a physiotherapist and basic advice for physiotherapy after surgery are often included on this level.

The specialized level of rehabilitation

The patient will remain on the basic level unless identified as needing something more, at which point rehabilitation on **the specialized level** will be initiated. According to the NCRG, rehabilitation on this level should include in-depth assessments by HCPs with specialized competence within the identified area. A rehabilitation plan that contains a summary of assessments, the patient's goals, planned interventions, time plan, division of responsibilities, and follow-up should be decided between the patient and the HCP. A physiotherapist, social worker, and

occupational therapist are often engaged for BC patients on this level. This can be organized differently at the local level but can constitute a specialized cancer rehabilitation unit.

The advanced level of rehabilitation

If the patient has complex needs, assessments and interventions sometimes demand rehabilitation on **the advanced level**. Specialized and multiprofessional teams cooperate and coordinate rehabilitation interventions on this level.

Knowledge of breast cancer and rehabilitation interventions

Research on rehabilitation during BC treatment predominantly focuses on exercise and physical activity. Physical activity is an important part of cancer rehabilitation, and regular exercise has been found to be safe and feasible both in improving several treatment-related symptoms and in lowering the risk of other chronic diseases (124-126). This illuminates the importance of integrating physical activity during BC treatment. For example, supervised exercise after surgery has been shown to improve muscle strength (127), reduce postoperative pain, increase the range of motion of the shoulder joint, reduce upper limb dysfunction, and reduce arm lymphedema (128). A review investigating exercise during chemotherapy showed positive impacts on fatigue, QoL, cognitive fatigue, physical and social functioning, constipation, and dyspnea (129). The effect of exercise during chemotherapy has also been studied in large, randomized studies in Sweden, showing beneficial effects on QoL up to one year after treatment (130), as well as long-term decreased levels of fatigue (127), and emotional symptoms (131) compared to usual care.

The findings regarding interventions focusing on psychological aspects for women with BC are less conclusive (132), but interventions targeting body image issues have been shown to be effective (133) and psychoeducation has been shown to decrease anxiety and increase QoL (134). Promising results for stress reduction and well-being have been found for interventions using strategies such as self-compassion (135) and mindfulness-based stress reduction (136). In a meta-analysis, psychological interventions aimed at fatigue showed promising results, but the effect varied depending on baseline levels of fatigue (137).

A systematic review of reviews evaluating current evidence on rehabilitation interventions following BC treatment showed that more than one intervention could have positive effects on a specific symptom, and that the effect depended on intervention type combined with when and how the intervention was provided (132). Individual prerequisites are crucial in deciding the best rehabilitation. With the person-centered rehabilitation approach taken in this thesis, rehabilitation is not limited or rigid, but flexible and inclusive of the person with BC's opinions,

experience, and preferences. There is no "one fits all" solution in cancer rehabilitation.

This was exemplified in a meta-synthesis investigating barriers and facilitators for participation in physical activity during BC treatment. Hindrances to participation were symptoms such as fatigue and pain, social factors such as responsibilities in everyday life, and information that was vague, inconsistent, or non-existent. Facilitating factors for participation included positive physical benefits, improvements in psychological well-being. increased self-esteem. and empowerment. Tailored information and a supportive environment were important, as well as the effect of the physical activity of feeling normal (138). This illuminates the importance of adapting information and rehabilitation depending on the affected person's unique situation, and the need for a comprehensive approach. The challenge is to understand how rehabilitation should be structured on the local level, to enable evidence-based interventions provided in a person-centered way.

The gap between guidelines, research, and clinical practice

The Swedish report "Same but different everywhere – a mapping of access to rehabilitation for breast cancer patients" was published in 2021 (139), describing a reality where rehabilitation needs were strongly prevalent among women with BC, but these needs were often not identified and met. This is in line with earlier research in cancer patients showing that systematic needs assessment are challenging (140), often due to implementation struggles. The report also highlighted the significant variability in the availability of cancer rehabilitation across Sweden, encompassing the structures for assessments, planning, implementation, and follow-up.

This variability underscores the challenges in implementing the NCRG recommendations at local and clinical levels (123). One contributing factor could be the previously mentioned challenges faced by CNCCs when trying to perform their task in accordance with the role description, as they bear the primary responsibility for identifying rehabilitation needs at the basic level. Additional difficulties come from the patient's journey through the healthcare system, which often includes moving from one clinic to another depending on treatment regime (139). Earlier research has shown the great challenge in these procedures (141), when differences in structures between organizations, including changing CNCC, interrupts the continuity of care and complicates the identification of rehabilitation needs.

Identification of needs may depend on the skills of the individual HCP, or the patient's ability to ask for help (142). The patient ends up with the responsibility of asking for help, and even though personal liability is of the utmost importance in cancer rehabilitation (122), this cannot replace the professional responsibility of HCPs to offer high-quality care (139). The report from 2021 was followed by three

other national reports (123, 143, 144), all unanimous in stating that cancer rehabilitation according to the NRCG is not fully implemented, and that cancer patients suffer from unidentified rehabilitation needs.

Rehabilitation and unmet needs

A recurrent theme in BC research is the occurrence of needs and unmet needs. From the holistic perspective on cancer rehabilitation, which encompasses physical, psychological, social, and existential aspects of life, unmet needs can be attributed to insufficient rehabilitation support. A systematic review by Fiszer et al. (2014) demonstrated that the needs and unmet needs of women with BC vary, and are influenced by individual characteristics such as younger age, treatment-related physical or psychological side-effects, marital status, time since diagnosis, stage of the disease, and level of distress (145). High levels of distress have been identified as the most influential risk factor for unmet needs (146), which suggests that distress could indicate a need for extended rehabilitation services.

A recent systematic review by Paltrinieri et al. (2024) further indicated that these needs change from the time of diagnosis onward (147). The authors suggested that their findings may reflect a gap in the provision of care, as evidenced by the number of unmet needs reported. One of the most prevalent unmet needs throughout the cancer trajectory, as described by Paltrinieri et al. (2024), is the need for information on self-help strategies to promote recovery. This highlights a critical lack of contact with healthcare services, which is crucial for managing the various challenges faced by women with BC. From diagnosis and treatment to follow-up care, consistent contact with HCPs is essential for facilitating rehabilitation and promoting independence.

In summary, the structures for rehabilitation within the NCRG, and the role description of the CNCC at both the national and the regional level have not been fully implemented, resulting in missed opportunities for rehabilitation and recovery. The prevalence of unmet needs reported in research underscores the importance of improving the identification of needs and acting in accordance with the individual situation. Implementation of structures on the local level to address individual rehabilitation needs is therefore of utmost importance.

Ontological and epistemological assumptions

The goal of integrating the person and their unique situation into rehabilitation interventions within the healthcare system underscores the importance of understanding the person's experiences. It also highlights the need to explore how healthcare structures relate to rehabilitation today, and how healthcare aligns with PCC principles. This influenced decisions about how knowledge in this matter could

be gained, formed the basis of the ontological and epistemological assumptions on which this thesis rests, and decided the framework used in this thesis.

Ontology answers questions concerning the fundamental assumptions we make about the nature of the world (148). In this thesis, the reality is formed from the perspective of the person with BC, and depends on their unique beliefs, values and context. A person's lived life shapes how that person perceives the world (17), and when exploring the prerequisites for individualized rehabilitation, reality from both the patient's and the HCP's perspective is important. This thesis illuminates the viewpoints of both patients (Study IV) and HCPs (Study I), and the similarities and differences create a tension that is important to address in order to answer the aim of this thesis. This decides what we need to know to enable rehabilitation support in a person-centered way. In Study III, the subjective experience of reality was illuminated through questionnaires measuring aspects such as HRQoL, resilience, life situation, and distress. The data were treated with the greatest respect for individual experiences, despite being measured with predefined alternatives and analyzed on a group level.

Epistemology deals with questions about the knowledge we can retain about reality, and how the world is understood (148). A strength of this thesis is that new knowledge has been developed from different perspectives. The pilot and feasibility testing of the ReScreen intervention allowed knowledge to be gained of structures within the intervention, as well as of how the study could be operationalized in a robust way. A qualitative approach was used to explore experiences of rehabilitation from both the patient's and the HCP's viewpoint, as various perspectives are important in developing healthcare organizations in favor of PCC. Study III took a quantitative approach. The measurement of subjective experiences with questionnaires allowed investigation and interpretation of factors associated with the experience of receiving a BC diagnosis.

Rationale

Cancer rehabilitation aims to prevent functional impairments and to ensure that individuals with cancer maintain or regain optimal function, activity, and QoL despite the consequences of cancer and its treatment. Increasing survival rates for BC also mean an increasing need for rehabilitation and support, and research from the past two decades highlights the challenges faced by women throughout the cancer trajectory. While many women manage their condition with the help of their social context and standard care from HCPs, the challenge lies in identifying those who require extended support in a system where access to rehabilitation and promoting interventions is often limited, and where the responsibility often falls on the patient to communicate their needs.

Since the first national cancer rehabilitation guidelines were published in 2014, the importance of early identification of rehabilitation needs and the provision of holistic, individualized rehabilitation and follow-up has been stressed. Today, these two components are emphasized as the core of cancer rehabilitation. In the current NCRG, structures for early identification are provided and recommended at both national and regional levels, and validated instruments for identification of rehabilitation needs are suggested. According to the NCRG, at the local level, the individual situation and need for cancer rehabilitation should be assessed and evaluated together with the affected person, in accordance with the procedures established by each organization. However, the implementation of structures seems to differ between organizations, and recent reports indicate a gap between national guidelines and local practices and resources, leaving patients with suboptimal rehabilitation support. Implementing structures for the identification of needs by validated instruments and the provision of individualized rehabilitation at the local level is therefore of utmost importance to enable support for each individual woman.

This thesis is part of the ReScreen study, the overall aim of which was to develop an intervention based on early screening for distress as an indicator of extended rehabilitation needs, using a well-validated instrument: the distress thermometer. The thesis contributes to the development of knowledge by investigating the prerequisites for how structures such as those recommended within the NCRG can be applied on the local level. Its rationale is to provide a comprehensive understanding of the requirements for screening-based individualized rehabilitation according to the ReScreen intervention.

Aim

The overall aim of the thesis was to investigate the prerequisites for screening-based individualized rehabilitation following primary BC diagnosis, treatment, and follow-up.

The specific aims for each study:

- I. To explore HCPs' experiences of current rehabilitation practice and describe current barriers and facilitators for individualized rehabilitation for patients following BC treatment.
- II. To examine recruitment, retention, distribution of distress, relevance of the intervention, and reported problems in a pilot trial of the ReScreen study.
- III. To investigate the level of distress in newly diagnosed BC patients and the association with demographics, clinical data, resilience, and HRQoL.
- IV. To explore the experience of women with BC after participating in a complex RCT focusing on cancer rehabilitation from a comprehensive perspective.

Methods

Design

The overall aim of this thesis motivated the varying designs of Studies I–IV, as the intention was to gain a comprehensive understanding of different factors of importance for individualized rehabilitation. All four studies are part of the ReScreen RCT, a complex intervention study that is described in more detail below. In Studies I and IV, the qualitative design allowed the exploration of experiences of rehabilitation from the perspective of the HCP (Study I) and the patient (Study IV). Study II was a feasibility study piloting the ReScreen RCT. Study III used a cross-sectional design to investigate high and low distress in relation to demographics, clinical data, HRQoL, and resilience in newly diagnosed women with BC. An overview of the design, participants, data collection, and analysis in each of the four studies is presented in Table 2.

	Study I	Study II	Study III	Study IV
Design	Qualitative/focus group interviews	Feasibility testing and pilot study	Quantitative/cross sectional study	Qualitative/focus group interviews
Participants	19 HCPs from surgical and oncological departments	85 women participating in the ReScreen feasibility study	633 women included in the ReScreen RCT	30 participants from the ReScreen RCT
Data collection	Focus group interviews	Self-reported questionnaires, medical records	Self reported questionnaires, medical records	Focus group interviews
Data analysis	Conventional content analysis, inductive approach	Descriptive statistics	Descriptive statistics, regression models	Conventional content analysis, inductive and deductive approach.

Table 2	Avery low of dealers	martialmanta	data adlaatian	and data anal	vala in aturdiaa I IV
i able z.	Overview of design	. Darticipants	. data conection	. ang gata anai	vsis in studies i-iv
				,	,

HCP= healthcare professional, RCT=randomized controlled trial,

Context

The ReScreen study

This section provides an introduction to the ReScreen study, in order to clarify the context from which the thesis originates. The overall aim of this complex intervention study was to develop and evaluate a model for screening-based individualized rehabilitation for women following primary BC treatment (7). It took inspiration from the Medical Research Council's framework for complex interventions (149), and included four phases: 1. development, 2. feasibility testing, 3. evaluation, and 4. implementation. This thesis includes work from the first three phases (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Overview of the ReScreen study.

Complex interventions

It is not always evident what makes an intervention complex. Craig et al. (2008) describe some characteristics that are important to consider for research strategies, such as the number of interacting components within the intervention, the number and difficulty of behaviors required by those receiving or delivering the intervention, and the number of organizational levels targeted by the intervention (149). Another aspect is the questions that are asked, such as how the intervention works, or how the intervention can be optimized (150). Within the ReScreen study, the complexity of real-world conditions results in numerous interacting components within the intervention. To comprehend these components, various study designs are necessary to address the overall aim (149, 151). This was an important foundation for the design of the studies included in this thesis.

The development of the ReScreen study

The design of the ReScreen study was inspired in part by a Danish study of individualized rehabilitation during BC treatment (152). During the development phase, a systematic review of systematic reviews was conducted in order to evaluate the current evidence on rehabilitation interventions in female patients following BC

treatment (132). Additionally, a focus group study with HCPs was conducted to explore facilitators and barriers for individualized rehabilitation from the HCP's perspective (153) (Study I). The design of the ReScreen intervention for individualized rehabilitation, along with a clinically relevant decision support tool (DST), was developed on the basis of the results from these two studies, the NCRG, and meetings with stakeholders (patients, next of kin, interest organizations).

In the second phase, the feasibility of the ReScreen RCT was tested (154) (Study II). Feasibility testing is a crucial part in the development of a complex intervention, and should be designed to assess progression criteria such as recruitment, data collection, and retention to reduce uncertainty around these matters. It should also include evaluation of the optimal content and delivery of the intervention (151). The main goal of assessing feasibility is to avoid potentially disastrous consequences in the larger study that might affect the whole research effort (155). The results from Study II led to changing the selection of patients for randomization, which was crucial for the main ReScreen RCT. This phase also include evaluation of the DST, further details of this will be given in the Method and Result sections for study II.

The ReScreen RCT

The RCT started out as a single-center study conducted at the Department of Surgery, Skåne University Hospital, where approximately 720 women are diagnosed with and treated for BC annually. During the study, a second department was enrolled: the Department of Surgery at Helsingborg Hospital, where approximately 300 women are diagnosed and treated each year (156).

Women aged ≥ 18 who were diagnosed with primary BC and planned for surgery, and who were able to communicate in Swedish, were invited to the ReScreen RCT. Exclusion criteria were recurrent disease, pregnancy, inability to participate due to cognitive impairment, severe mental illness, or drug addiction. The participants were invited to the study by CNCCs working at the BC units, in slightly different ways due to differences in organizational structure between the two hospitals. Participants from the university hospital were included during a pre-planned visit to the BC unit, and completed a baseline questionnaire during the same visit. This appointment was conducted 1–2 weeks after receiving the diagnosis, and included information and practical details to prepare the patient for operation. Participants included at the county hospital were informed of and included in the ReScreen study by a CNCC during the visit when they were informed of the BC diagnosis. They received a baseline questionnaire with a pre-stamped envelope for completion at home.

The women who agreed to participate were included in a three-armed RCT, approximately 1–2 weeks before start of treatment. At inclusion, the participants were screened for distress using the DT described below. Participants identified as

having high distress (≥ 5 on a scale of 0–10) were randomized to either an intervention group (IG) or a control group (CG). Participants scoring <5 were followed as an observational group (OG). A computerized random sequence was generated to ensure an allocation ratio of 1:1 for the IG versus CG. All three groups received usual care, and the IG was additionally offered the intervention described below.

For the RCT sample size evaluation was conducted with distress as the primary outcome. Assuming a standard deviation (SD) of 2.9 (of DT scores) at the follow-up visit in the two randomized groups, 266 patients (133 per group), were required for a two-sided two-sample t-test for 80% power to detect a 1.0 unit mean difference. Assuming that the OG accounted for 60% of the patients in the study, the sample size increased to 665.

Usual care

Usual care in the study context referred to the basic level of rehabilitation, represented by access to a CNCC and a surgeon/oncologist working in the BC unit. The CNCC on the surgical BC unit served as the primary contact during both the pre-treatment and post-treatment period, unless chemotherapy was recommended as adjuvant treatment, in which case a CNCC from the oncological BC unit assumed responsibility for identifying needs and providing rehabilitation. Additional basic rehabilitation resources depended on treatment regime; for example, if full axillary lymph node dissection was performed, follow-up included structured contact with a physiotherapist. The CNCC was responsible for identifying additional rehabilitation needs, as well as making referrals to other HCPs if needed. Usual care was based on the patient's initiative to contact, and there were some differences between the two hospitals, mostly represented by how the participant could get in contact with HCPs. Aside from planned appointments structured according to the medical process, the CNCC could be reached by phone for at least two hours per day.

The intervention and the decision support tool

In addition to usual care, the IG was involved in the rehabilitation process through the development of a rehabilitation plan decided between the patient and a dedicated research nurse, which constituted the basis for rehabilitation during the follow-up year. The plan was based on individual prerequisites and the DST that was developed in the first phase of the ReScreen study. The DST focused on healthrelated behaviors, and clinical and evidence-based knowledge of known problems related to BC and treatment: practical/relational problems, emotional/existential problems, and physical problems.

The DST was organized in four steps, and supported the dialogue between the patient and the nurse (Figure 7). The first step focused on general advice about rehabilitation and exercise. In the second step, the patients' individual needs were identified, and in the third step these needs were matched to evidence-based

interventions. The rehabilitation plan was formed in the fourth step, including explicit goals for the rehabilitation process. Follow-up and evaluation depended on the patients' individual needs, but took place as a minimum at 2 weeks after start of treatment and then once a month during the first 4 months. Follow-up lasted for 1 year, during which period the research nurse acted as a continuous healthcare contact responsible for proactive and systematic evaluation of needs to ensure that potential new problems or changed rehabilitation needs were identified. The research nurse monitored the women throughout the first year, even if the adjuvant treatment required transition from the surgical to oncological BC unit.

STEP 1: General advice and motivational interviewing				
1) Dialogue about the importance of BC rehabilitation, 2) General recommendations of physical activity, 3) Pamphlet "Rehabilitation after BC"				
STEP 2: Identify problems and needs STEP 3: Recommend evidence-based interventions, ex. related to sleep problem				
formation: leep problems is common and related to worry and fatigue. t is important to maintain regular sleep habits. No not watch TV or use your phone in bed before bedtime. isten to audiobooks. dvice and interventions • According to evidence, yoga may have positive effects. • Massage can be relaxing. • Advice of physical activity.				
STEP 4: Planning rehab and follow up				
1) Develop a rehab plan, 2) Set goals for rehabilitation, 3) Plan follow up (in person or telephone) and frequency				
a G T t D i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i				

Figure 7. Example of the DST focusing on sleep problems.

Participants and data collection

The studies presented in this thesis included a total of 737 participants: 19 HCPs and 718 women newly diagnosed with BC. The women with BC provided quantitative data for Studies II and III, and 30 of them also contributed qualitative data through interviews. The 19 HCPs provided interview data.

Participants and inclusion

Study 1

This explorative qualitative focus group study included HCPs working with BC at the Department of Surgery or the Department of Oncology at Skåne University Hospital between November 2016 and March 2017. HCPs working with BC care or cancer rehabilitation in various parts of the cancer trajectory were considered eligible for inclusion in the study, and were purposefully invited through key persons. When applying purposeful sampling, participants are selected who will best contribute to the study (157). Variation in profession, workplace, and years of working with BC/rehabilitation was sought, in order to gain a comprehensive understanding of rehabilitation including perspectives from the different professions involved during the patient's BC journey, and thus to gain rich and relevant information for the study aim (158, 159). A total of 19 HCPs were included.

Study II

This feasibility and pilot study was conducted at the Department of Surgery, Skåne University Hospital. Between November 2018 and April 2019, women with primary BC who fulfilled the ReScreen inclusion and exclusion criteria were consecutively invited to participate. Of 117 eligible women, 32 declined participation, leaving 85 participants to be included in the study.

Study III

This cross-sectional study was part of the main ReScreen RCT, which was conducted at two hospitals. Inclusion into the study lasted from May 2019 to November 2022. Participants were included on the basis of the ReScreen study inclusion and exclusion criteria. Because of the COVID-19 pandemic, inclusion was paused from December 2020 until August 2021. A total of 784 women were asked to participate, and 643 gave their consent. Of these, two withdrew their consent and eight were found not to fit the inclusion criteria, and so 633 participants were finally included in the study.

Study IV

In this qualitative focus group study, women who had completed their participation in the ReScreen RCT were eligible to participate. Inclusion lasted from April to November 2022. All eligible women during this period were purposefully invited to participate, with the aim of achieving variation regarding participation in the IG, CG, or OG. Time since start of treatment was limited to 24 months. Potential participants were approached by phone, and were asked if they wanted to participate in a group interview about rehabilitation. After an initial recruitment period during Spring 2022, six focus groups were conducted. Due to late cancellations, resulting in a low number of participants in some of the groups, further recruitment was initiated during Autumn 2022, and an additional three focus groups interviews were conducted to ensure richness of data. Of 109 eligible women, 95 were reached, 42 agreed to participate, and 30 women finally participated.

Data collection

Interviews – Studies I and IV

Five focus group interviews with 19 HCPs (3–5 participants in each group) were conducted in Study I. The participants in each group worked at the same unit and included different professions. Interviews were conducted face-to-face in a conference room at the hospital, and lasted 71–89 minutes.

Nine focus group interviews with 30 participants from the ReScreen RCT (2–6 participants in each group) were conducted in Study IV. The intended variation regarding participation in the IG/CG/OG was achieved, with 3 interviews being conducted among each group (total participants per group: N=12 from the IG, N=8 from the CG, N=10 from the OG). Interviews lasted 70–130 minutes, and were carried out face-to face in a separate room at the hospital.

In both Study I and Study IV, a semi-structured interview guide was used during the interviews to support the participants in focusing on the topic of the studies. Each interview started with an opening question:

Study I: "Could you please describe your role in the rehabilitation of patients following BC treatment?"

Study IV: "What are your thoughts about rehabilitation during the year after diagnosis?" In this study, the definition of cancer rehabilitation was given prior to commencing the interviews.

Two researchers were present during the interviews; one acted as a moderator, helping the participants to focus on the study aim, while the other took notes and asked probing questions (160). At the end of each interview, a summary of the content was presented to the participants to confirm and validate the interpretation, allowing for immediate member checking (161). In both studies, data collection was closed when no new information emerged. The interviews were recorded digitally.

Feasibility measurement and outcomes - Study II

The feasibility outcomes in Study II were recruitment rate, answer frequency, retention rate, and outcomes related to data management. This included procedures to identify potential systematic errors. Further outcomes were distribution of distress, adherence to intervention protocol, and frequency of reported problems.

ReScreen data collection and measurement – Studies II and III

The same procedures for data collection were performed in Studies II and III. Data collection time points are given in Table 3. Study III only included baseline data.

Follow-up questionnaires (T1–T5) were sent by post and returned in a preaddressed, stamped envelope. Up to two reminders were sent.

	0	T1	T2	Т3	T4	T5
Time points	Baseline ¹	2 weeks ²	3 months ²	6 months ²	9 months ²	12 months ²
Assessments						
Demographic data						
Height and weight	Х			Х		
Sick leave	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Other ³	Х					
Clinical data	Х	Х	Х			
Self-reported data						
DT	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
QLQ C-30, BR-23	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
CD-RISC	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Living habits	Х			Х		Х
Care satisfaction				Х		Х

Table 3. Overview of data collection time points for Studies II and III

¹ 1–2 weeks before start of treatment. ² After start of treatment. ³ Age, marital status, number of children, born in Sweden (yes/no), living arrangements, financial situation, level of education. DT=Distress thermometer, CD-RISC=Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale.

The questionnaire included data on the following variables:

Sociodemographics

Demographic variables were collected via single items including information on date of birth, marital status, number of children, born in Sweden (yes/no), living arrangements, height and weight, being on sick leave, financial situation, and level of education.

Physical activity and health-related behavior

Items related to physical activity included questions about exercise and activity, while items related to health behaviors included questions on tobacco and alcohol consumption. The items were collected from the Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare.

Self-reported instruments for distress, HRQoL, and resilience

Distress, the primary outcome variable of the ReScreen RCT, was measured with the DT (33), a 11-point numeric scale on which the level of distress is indicated from none (0) to extreme distress (10). The DT includes a problem list comprising 39 common problems in cancer patients, divided into five categories: practical problems, family-related problems, emotional problems, spiritual or religious problems, and physical problems; all are responded to with "yes" or "no" (33).

Respondents are asked to answer on the basis of their experience during the past week. The DT has been validated in various cancer contexts (34-37), and has shown good potential in screening for distress-related practical, family, emotional, existential, and physical problems in patients with cancer (34, 35).

Resilience was evaluated using the Swedish version of the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC) (162). This instrument contains 25 items evaluated on a 5-point Likert scale from 0 (not true at all) to 4 (true nearly all the time). The 25 items correspond to 5 factors: 1. having high competence, standards, and tenacity (eight items), 2. reflects trusting one's instinct, perceiving strengthening effects of stress, and tolerance of negative affect (seven items), 3. having secure relationships and a positive attitude towards change (five items), 4. perceived control (three items), and 5. spirituality and religion (two items). A total score of 0-100 is calculated, with higher scores indicating higher resilience. CD-RISC has good psychometric properties (163) and has been validated in Swedish populations (164, 165).

HRQoL was evaluated using the Swedish versions of validated instruments from European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC). The QLQ-C30 (41) is the core instrument, and is designed to assess the HRQoL in patients with cancer. Since its original publication in 1993, it has been translated into more than 120 languages, and it is now among the most widely used patient-reported outcome measures in both cancer research and clinical practice (166). A recent study investigating patients' experiences of their disease and symptoms was conducted to ensure that the concepts assessed by the QLQ-C30 questions are still important and relevant to patients today. The results showed that the questionnaire is appropriate and relevant for patients affected by various cancer types and stages of the disease (167).

The QLQ-C30 incorporates 30 items in 15 subscales. The two subscales on global QoL are scored on a 7-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (very poor) to 7 (excellent). The items in the remaining subscales, three on symptoms (fatigue, pain, and vomiting/nausea), five on functioning (role, physical, emotional, cognitive, and social), and six single-item scales (dyspnea, constipation, diarrhea, insomnia, financial difficulties, and loss of appetite), are scored on a 4-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (not at all) to 4 (very much). In this thesis the scales were handled according to the manuals, meaning that the 4-point scales were linearly transformed to scores of 0-100, with high scores on the global QoL and functioning scales representing better HRQoL and functioning, and high scores on the symptom subscales indicating more severe problems (168).

QLQ-BR23 (44) is a BC-specific module intended for use among patients varying in disease stages and treatment modalities. The module comprises four functional scales (body image, sexual functioning, sexual enjoyment, future perspective) and four symptom scales/items (systematic therapy side-effects, breast symptoms, arm

symptoms, being upset by hair loss). The items are scored on 4-point Likert scales, and the scoring procedure is consistent with the functional and symptom scales of QLQ-C30 (168). A review conducted in 2015 determined the QLQ-BR23 to be reliable and valid for assessing HRQoL in patients with BC (169).

Clinical data collected from the medical journal included:

Clinical variables

Clinical and treatment-related data in terms of, for example, mode of detection, menstrual status, comorbidity, and being on psychotropic drugs or beta blockers were retrieved from patients' medical records. Several other clinical variables were included in the evaluation of the RCT, but were not relevant to the studies included in this thesis.

Data analysis

My preunderstanding

I first met women with BC as a nurse in the early years of the 21st century, when I was working on a surgical ward with multiple specialties. At that time, the women spent a few nights in hospital regardless of the method used for their operation. Usually they were placed together in a 4-bed room that was known as "the easy room". Mostly all we did as nurses was to administer painkillers, remove drainage, and help them decide on the size of their prosthesis. However, I soon learned that if I just sat down at their bedside and listened to their stories and feelings, life was not that easy. Several years later I started working in a BC unit, and eventually started my PhD in this project.

In almost every study I read, I can follow the common thread of experiences, which has a strong resonance from my clinical work as a CNCC on a BC unit. Throughout the process of conducting the studies, I needed to be aware of my preunderstanding, experience, knowledge, and opinions built upon meeting patients with BC as a CNCC, in order to avoid letting these affect the results.

Research always requires some prior understanding; this provides an initial grasp of the phenomenon under investigation, allowing knowledge to develop (170). Ongoing discussion with my co-authors and fellow PhD students and researchers, who did not have my experience as a CNCC, was essential to balance my preunderstanding in the analytical process and to ensure that the results mirrored the participants' experiences rather than mine.

Studies I and IV

Conventional qualitative content analysis

Studies I and IV both had a qualitative design, but originated from two different samples. Study I aimed to explore HCPs' experiences of current rehabilitation practice, and to describe current barriers and facilitators for individualized rehabilitation for patients following BC treatment. Study IV aimed to explore the experience of women with BC after participating in a complex RCT focusing on cancer rehabilitation from a comprehensive perspective. Through the interviews, a deeper and comprehensive understanding of all the participants' experiences could be gained. Conventional qualitative content analysis was applied in both studies, following the process described by Graneheim and Lundman (2004) (171). Content analysis is appropriate in designs aiming to increase knowledge in areas where theory or research are currently limited (172).

The recorded interviews were transcribed verbatim, and validated by reading the text and listening to the recorded interviews simultaneously. Content analysis can take an inductive approach, which has no predefined themes or categories, or a deductive approach, which starts with a predefined theory, model category, or theme (173). Studies I and IV both started with an inductive approach, allowing categories to flow from the data (172). The researchers independently read and/or listened to the transcripts to achieve an overall understanding and sense of the whole. The texts were analyzed as a whole, and codes emerged thorough abstraction of condensed meaning units. Codes answering the aim of the studies were sorted into subcategories and categories (171). In both Study I and Study IV, two authors had the main responsibility for the analysis. This included a back-and-forth process between text, codes, sub-categories, and categories to validate the interpretation. Interpretations were discussed throughout the analytical process until consensus was reached between all authors.

The analysis continued in Study IV, using the results from the inductive analysis to reanalyze the data with a deductive approach. The two categories and four sub-categories included a great variety in experiences of rehabilitation and BC. To explore and increase the knowledge of possible variations between the IG, CG, and OG, the codes were sorted into categories and sub-categories for the three groups separately.

In both Study I and Study IV, the manifest content was interpreted in the subcategories and categories. The analysis concluded in Study IV with the emergence of an overall theme (174).

Study II

Study II aimed to examine recruitment, retention, distribution of distress, relevance of the intervention, and reported problems in a pilot trial of the ReScreen RCT.

Descriptive statistics in terms of frequencies, means and standard deviations (SD) were used to evaluate the outcome data. Calculations were performed using version 25.0 of SPSS Statistics for Windows (IBM, Armonk, NY, USA).

Recruitment rate was evaluated by calculating the number and percentage of participants who agreed to participate in the study compared to all eligible patients. Reasons for non-participation were not structurally collected. *Answer frequency* was defined as the number and percentage of patients who returned the questionnaires at each follow-up point, both for the sample as a whole and divided into IG/CG/OG. The *retention rate* was defined as the number and percentage of patients remaining in the study at each follow-up point, and calculated both for the whole sample and for the IG, CG, and OG individually. To evaluate *data management outcomes*, all scanned questionnaires were manually verified and compared to the original data. The evaluation also involved manually comparing medical data in the electronic case report form with the medical journal; this was performed by two team members, one of whom had not been involved in the data management process.

The evaluation of the *distribution of distress* was an essential part of this study. In the feasibility study, the cut-off on the DT for deciding whether the participant had elevated distress was set to 7. This cut-off had been identified in earlier international studies as relevant to identify high distress among women newly diagnosed with BC (175, 176). The distribution of distress was assessed firstly by calculating the mean value in the total sample at each follow-up point, and secondly by calculating the number and percentages of participants scoring \geq 7 at baseline, and then exploring alternative cut-offs (\geq 4, \geq 5, \geq 6, and \geq 8).

Adherence to the intervention and study protocol was evaluated through a review of the study documentation of the IG. The review included number of contacts with the research nurse, whether each patient had an established rehabilitation plan, whether rehabilitation goals were stated and clearly documented, and whether the goals were followed up by the research nurse.

The *frequency of reported problems* was investigated in the total sample at each follow-up point using the problem list. The number of problems per patient was also investigated in the total sample. This enabled evaluation of the consistency of the DST with the most common patient-reported problems.

All participants were included in the analysis, except for the investigation of the frequency of reported problems, where only questionnaires with complete data on the problem list at baseline were included.

Study III

Study III aimed to investigate the level of distress in newly diagnosed BC patients and the association with demographics, clinical data, resilience, and HRQoL.

Statistical analysis

Version 29 of SPSS Statistics (IBM, Armonk, NY, USA) was used for the statistical analyses.

Descriptive statistics were used to investigate associations between demographics, clinical variables, resilience, and HRQoL and the primary outcome distress, which was dichotomized as low (\leq 4) versus high (\geq 5) distress.

The validated instruments used in this thesis for resilience and HRQoL were based on Likert scales, and before statistical testing these were lineally transformed to a 0–100 scale in accordance with instructions for the instruments (168). For CD-RISC, missing values were imputed using the mean of the other items if at least 75% (19 items) were completed, following the recommendations on the Connor-Davidson website (177). Missing items in QLQ-C30 and QLQ-BR23were imputed in accordance with the EORTC instructions (168).

To quantify associations between the outcome high/low distress and demographical and clinical variables, resilience, and HRQoL univariable logistic regression analyses were performed.

To identify predictors of high distress, a first model was fitted using backward selection (178). Only demographic and clinical variables were included in this model. A p-value threshold of 0.157 was applied for variable exclusion, corresponding to the minimization of the Akaike information criterion (AIC; a measure of fit adjusted for model complexity) (179). Model performance was assessed using the area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (180). Given the inclusion of the clinical variable mode of detection, the sample was restricted to individuals aged 40-74 years at diagnosis, aligning with the target population for mammography screening in Sweden. To avoid further restricting the sample, the variable being on sick leave was not included.

The following two models focused on exercise as the primary exposure of interest, given its modifiability by both the patient and the HCPs. In the second model, the effect of exercise on distress was adjusted for age, self-assessed financial situation, level of education, and psychiatric disease in health history. In the third model, the binary variable being on sick leave was included, and so the sample was restricted to <65 years of age, as this variable is only relevant prior to retirement.

P-values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant. Since no adjustment were made for multiple testing, caution is warranted when interpreting the results from each specific test.

Ethical considerations

The ReScreen study was approved by the Regional Ethical Review Board in Lund, Sweden (ref: 2015/505). Supplementary approval was obtained from the Regional Ethical Review Board (amendment 2018/924) and the Swedish Ethical Review Authority (amendments 2020-04664 and 2020-06752). All studies conformed to the Swedish research ethics legislation (181) and to the ethical principles defined by the Declaration of Helsinki (182, 183).

During the progress of the doctoral studies, continuous discussions were conducted to ensure the ethical principles of autonomy (the individual's right to make their own decisions), beneficence (the moral obligation to act for the benefit of others), non-maleficence (the moral obligation not to cause harm), and justice (fairness and equality among individuals) (184).

Autonomy. In Study I, HCPs were invited to participate by key persons, such as the unit manager. This could have implied a sense of pressure to participate, although all participants expressed that they were happy to participate and share their views. The interviews were conducted at the participants' workplaces, which could have influenced the power dynamics. Voluntary participation was emphasized. All participants received oral and written information about the study before signing their written informed consent (7). They were also assured that they had the right to decline participation or withdraw their consent at any time. The participants in Study IV, who had all previously participated in the ReScreen RCT, received further written and oral information and again gave their written informed consent prior to data collection in the focus group study.

Since the author of this thesis worked as a CNCC on the BC unit and conducted the interviews, there was a risk of interviewer and participants having previously met. It was decided that if any participant had met the author in the BC unit, another researcher would lead the interview. The invitation phone call was followed by an invitation letter, which provided several opportunities to decline participation. The participants were also aware that the interviews took place at the hospital. If that caused feelings of discomfort, they had the opportunity to abstain from participating. Initially, it was possible to choose between two hospital sites for the interview, and the interviews were held in a room separated from the clinical activities to avoid feelings of discomfort.

Beneficence. All studies included in this thesis had the aim of improving care for women with BC. Both HCPs and persons with BC participated in the studies. It is always important to consider individual participants' preferences regarding participation in research, especially for patients with cancer, as they are often vulnerable and dependent on healthcare. In all studies in this thesis, the participants were assured that participation was strictly voluntary, and that data would be handled confidentially.

For Study IV, participants from the ReScreen RCT were invited to the focus group study through a phone call from one of the researchers. Recruitment might have been challenging if the women did not want to be reminded of their journey, or if the phone call brought back negative experiences. Therefore, if they declined participation, the researcher did not ask for a reason but ended the call amicably. During the interviews, participants had the opportunity to articulate their experiences and share thoughts and feelings with others who had been through similar situations with BC.

To minimize the risk that the completion of questionnaires and participation in interviews could have been perceived as time-consuming, burdening the participants' everyday lives (157), two women who had experienced BC completed the questionnaires included in the RCT before the study. This was done to ensure the inclusion of only relevant instruments and to avoid unnecessary strain on the participants.

Non-maleficence. This principle was addressed by treating all data as confidential. All necessary permits were in place before inclusion of patients began. Participants were assured that they could not be identified in the presentation of the studies. Results were presented at group level, and quotations in Studies I and IV were anonymized. Upon inclusion in the studies, personal identification was pseudonymized. All data were stored in a locked, fireproof cabinet, and the code key was stored separately. Scanned data were handled on password-protected computers and databases, and medical data were registered in an electronic case report form.

During data collection, the participants could receive support for any questions, thoughts, or feelings that arose. The interviews were conducted within an atmosphere of permission to express feelings and thoughts, and it was clarified beforehand that what was said in the room would stay in the room.

Justice. Participation provided an opportunity for individuals to make their voices heard without anyone else setting their conditions. To ensure that all women with BC during the inclusion period had the same chance to participate, all eligible women during the inclusion periods were asked to participate in Studies II, III, and IV.

Results

The results of Studies I-IV show that the prerequisites for screening-based individualized rehabilitation require consistent structures for the identification of needs and communication throughout the different levels of cancer rehabilitation. In order to answer the overall aim of the thesis the results are presented below in the form of brief summaries focusing on the results of each study in turn, followed by a comprehensive approach presented under the subheadings *Prerequisites for early screening for rehabilitation needs*, and *Prerequisites for individualized rehabilitation*.

Summary of results

In **Study I**, HCPs' experiences of rehabilitation practices and barriers and facilitators for individualized rehabilitation were captured in eight sub-categories that formed three categories: varying attitudes towards rehabilitation, incongruence in how to identify and meet rehabilitation needs, and suboptimal collaboration during cancer treatment (Table 4).

Categories	Sub-Categories
Varying attitudes towards rehabilitation	Rehabilitation based on medical indicators Lack of consensus about approach towards rehabilitation Satting goals for rehabilitation
Incongruence in how to identify and meet rehabilitation needs	Identifying signs of vulnerability Screening for rehabilitation needs Actions triggered by signs of vulnerability
Suboptimal collaboration during cancer treatment	Interprofessional team collaboration Interdisciplinary collaboration

Table 4. Overview of the categories and sub-categories in study i	Table 4.	Overview	of the	categories	and sub-cat	tegories in	study I
---	----------	----------	--------	------------	-------------	-------------	---------

Despite the respondents' extensive knowledge and willingness to facilitate the BC journey for patients, several barriers to individualized rehabilitation were identified. These barriers were primarily related to the lack of structures for identifying

rehabilitation needs, varying knowledge of and interest in rehabilitation, and the absence of organizational frameworks supporting individualized rehabilitation in clinical practice.

Study II explored the feasibility of the ReScreen RCT, and found satisfactory rates of both recruitment (73% enrolled patients included) and retention (here represented by answer frequency). The answer frequency was 92% overall, 98% in the IG, 64% in the CG, and 95% in the OG.

Only 18 participants (21.2%) scored \geq 7 and were randomized to the IG (N=9) and CG (N=9).

To explore the relevance of the DST, reported problems on the DT problem list were investigated. The most frequently reported problems were related to the domains for emotional and physical problems, with concerns such as worry, fatigue, sleep, sadness, and memory/concentration, dominating across all timepoints.

Study III investigated the association between distress and demographic and clinical variables, resilience, and HRQoL. Of the 633 participants, 52% scored \geq 5 on the DT and were randomized according to the study protocol.

The univariable logistic regression models for demographic and clinical factors showed significant associations between high distress and factors such as younger age, financial situation, amount of exercise per week, mode of detection, and psychiatric disease in health history. Moreover, there were strong associations between high distress and several subscales for HRQoL, such as lower summary scores, lower emotional functioning (QLQ-C30), and lower future perspective (QLQ-BR23). High distress was also strongly associated with lower resilience. In the multivariable logistic regression with backward selection, the following variables were retained in the model for distress: amount of exercise per week, self-assessed financial situation, mode of detection, age, use of beta blockers, number of children, and psychiatric disease in health history (Table 5). The corresponding area under curve was 0.684 (95% confidence interval [CI]: 0.638-0.729). In the models adjusting exercise per week for other variables, the association between high distress and exercise was stronger than in the univariable analysis (>90 vs <30, odds ratio [OR]: 0.50, 95% CI 0.33–0.77, compared to OR 0.58, 95% CI: 0.38–0.86).

Variables in the model	OR for high vs low distress (95% CI)	P -value
Exercise per week		
<30 min	ref	
30-90 min	0.83 (0.54-1.30)	0.424
>90 min	0.47 (0.30-0.78)	0.003
Self-assessed financial situation		
Good/very good	ref	
Neither good nor bad	1.55 (0.85-2.83)	0.150
Bad/very bad	3.89 (1.22-12.41)	0.022
Age at diagnosis, per year	0.98 (0.96-1.00)	0.034
Psychiatric disease in health history		
No	ref	
Yes	1.82 (0.91-3.62)	0.090
Mode of detection		
Symptomatic	ref	
Screening	0.63 (0.41-0.97)	0.036
On beta blockers		
No	ref	
Yes	0.63 (0.34-1.16)	0.137
Number of children		
0	ref	
1	1.70 (0.80-3.61)	0.172
2	1.08 (0.58-2.01)	0.811
3	0.58 (0.28-1.18)	0.131
>3	0.47 (0.15-1.43)	0.182
Constant	¹ 6.71	

Table 5. A multivariable prediction model for distress derived using logistic regression with backward elimination

N=492, missing 43. Age at diagnosis 40–74 years. ¹The exponentiated intercept parameter.

Study IV explored experiences of cancer rehabilitation among women with BC. Interviews were conducted with women from all three randomization groups of the ReScreen RCT (IG/CG/OG), and analyzed with both inductive and deductive analysis in order to illuminate variation in experiences between individuals and between the three groups. The women's experiences were captured in an overall theme: being an individual in a complex healthcare system. This was formed of two categories: *Feeling safe – a prerequisite for rehabilitation*, and *The individual needs as guidance for rehabilitation* (Table 6).

 Theme: Being an individual in a complex healthcare system

 Categories
 Sub-categories

 Feeling safe - a prerequisite for rehabilitation
 To be able to navigate and understand the healthcare system

 The individual needs as guidance for rehabilitation
 To be able to adjust to and recover in daily life

 To receive support when needed
 To receive support when needed

 Table 6. Overview of theme, categories, and sub-categories

Prerequisites for early screening for rehabilitation needs.

One prerequisite for individualized rehabilitation is that the patients' needs are identified and addressed early in the process. This thesis therefore sheds light on early screening for rehabilitation needs from different perspectives. Study I was concerned with the perspective of the HCP, while Study II focused on the feasibility of conducting a study to evaluate the effect of screening-based individualized rehabilitation. Study III examined the association between distress and other variables. Finally, Study IV explored patients' experiences of their rehabilitation needs in the light of their reported baseline level of distress and the support they received during their recovery period.

A core component of the ReScreen project was to explore the use of the DT as a screening instrument for extended rehabilitation needs early in the BC trajectory. Based on previous research, Study II investigated the feasibility of using a cut-off score of \geq 7. The results showed that only 21.2% of participants scored \geq 7 on the DT, which is a considerably lower proportion than that reported in earlier research. This finding led to a change in cut-off from \geq 7 to \geq 5 in the main RCT, to allow identification of women with high distress and to enable investigation of the accurate cut-off in this population. In Study III, 52% of participants rated their distress as \geq 5, and the distribution of distress levels was similar but not identical to that in Study II. Study III further showed significant associations between high distress and lower HRQoL for several domains and symptom scales of the EORTC QLQ-C30 and QLQ-BR23, and a strong association between high distress and lower resilience.

An exploration of the distribution of distress at baseline using alternative cut-offs is shown in Figure 8.



Figure 8. Exploring different cut-offs for distress at baseline, comparing results from Studies II and III.

Another perspective on early identification of needs was reflected by the overall theme in Study IV: Being an individual in a complex healthcare system. Experiences varied; some participants had having encountered a well-functioning healthcare system including both the medical and rehabilitation process, while others had not received support that met their individual needs. This emphasized the importance of identifying those in need of comprehensive individualized support to ensure timely rehabilitation. In Study I the lack of structures for systematic screening for needs, as well as different attitudes towards rehabilitation, were expressed as barriers to the patients' access to rehabilitation, even though early identification of needs was stated as important. On the basic level of rehabilitation, subjective assessments such as predictors (signs) of vulnerability were suggested as important for identifying needs, rather than instruments for routine screening. The suggested predictors varied, but could include factors such as age, social network, type of personality, or life situation. The result from Study III showing an association between high distress and demographic and clinical variables such as age, financial situation, and history of psychiatric disease suggests important factors to be aware of when assessing rehabilitation needs.

Participants in Study I who worked at the advanced level of rehabilitation often stated that patients were referred to them too late, and that systematic screening for needs could potentially improve this. Screening instruments were used at this level of rehabilitation, but not as a consistent routine. Overall, there were various opinions about the importance of adopting more structured screening procedures for rehabilitation needs; some HCPs saw this as an important and reliable way to identify needs, while others expressed concern that it would compromise the relationship between the HCP and the patient. The participants further stressed the importance of timing of support, since the system relied on the patient to contact healthcare when they needed support, and this could make early identification of needs difficult. The results of Study IV showed that if existing resources and structures for rehabilitation were aligned with individual needs, or if the women had the ability to communicate their need, this led to greater access to extended rehabilitation.

Prerequisites for individualized rehabilitation

When rehabilitation needs have been identified, the next step is to act upon them in a person-centered way to ensure individualized rehabilitation. The studies included in this thesis illuminate prerequisites for individualized rehabilitation from different perspectives. Studies I and IV explored the experiences of HCPs and patients, Study III investigated the complexity of factors associated with distress, and Study II examined the relevance of a DST by investigating the most frequently reported problems on the DT problem list.

The results of Study IV stress the importance of being valued and acknowledged as a person in the rehabilitation process, and of feeling safe. While facing a medical process that was often experienced as pre-determined and well planned, the rehabilitation process was sometimes experienced as unstructured and deprioritized. In order to feel secure and in control, the women considered it essential to be able to navigate the healthcare system, to receive relevant information, and to experience trust and continuity; and these things were experienced to varying degrees. The women with low distress at inclusion (OG) said that they had found the support they needed within the healthcare system, while the women with high distress at inclusion (IG/OG) often expressed extended needs.

Continuity was an important contributing factor to feeling acknowledged and known, and enabled individualized rehabilitation, but this also was experienced to varying degrees. In Study IV, women in the IG had the same nurse who followed them throughout the whole cancer process, independently of treatment regime, leading to a feeling that the nurse saw and knew them and their situation.

A woman from the CG described her feelings when this was not accomplished:

"...there was no continuity, so there were different doctors, different nurses, you know. And they had no idea who I was as a person. No, that's how I feel... [...] I think the feeling it might give, or gives... is that you're not... you know, you're not really included." (CG:1)

The women also emphasized the need to know where to turn when problems or questions arose. Different roles and responsibilities of HCPs as well as structural gaps between specialties were expressed as confusing. If the women had limited knowledge of how to navigate these complexities, this could lead to uncertainty, lack of support, and increased needs.

In Study I, the HCPs discussed suboptimal collaboration both within and between specialties during cancer treatment, and described this as hindering a comprehensive rehabilitation process. HCPs who were experts in BC emphasized the importance of preparing the patients for potential problems by providing information in advance. In the absence of systematized approaches for providing rehabilitation, for example via a DST, patients received different support and advice depending on who the patient met, which indicates a lack of knowledge and consensus about timing and strategies for rehabilitation. Structures for team meetings on the basic level of rehabilitation, which could facilitate discussions of how to optimize rehabilitation for the individual person, were described as limited.

Study I also revealed a substantial hindrance to collaboration between levels of rehabilitation in terms of lack of knowledge of when, where, and how referral for higher levels of rehabilitation should be conducted. Overall, despite the extensive experience of the HCPs participating in this study, the lack of structures and routines for individualized rehabilitation led to medical indicators, such as treatment regime, becoming the driving factor for rehabilitation. This hindered cooperation across different levels of rehabilitation, and potentially hampered the individual woman's access to individualized rehabilitation.

The women in Study IV expressed a wish to return to their daily lives. Notably, the women in the OG highlighted their ability to achieve this within their own social networks and resources. In contrast, the women with high distress (IG/CG) experienced a journey that to a greater extent demanded individualized support based on their needs and individual situation. However, while women from the CG described gaps in the structures and unmet rehabilitation needs, those from the IG found the intervention and contact with the research nurse to be helpful in overcoming these barriers. For example, the proactive approach within the intervention enabled the women to receive navigation and advice customized to their unique situation throughout the follow-up year. A woman from the IG exemplified how basic exercise advice adjusted to her everyday life had helped her:

"Remove some of the 'musts', like, you don't have to, you can just... like you said, you could go out for a walk, just let it take time. [...] [The nurse] told me to try to be outside. Go out and walk the dog, do your... try to get going after these chemotherapy treatments. [...] But it actually helped. Up and out, even if I was a bit dizzy, it got much better when I was out walking, just walking. Out to my horses, taking care of them [...] It was good, it didn't get better by just lying on the couch." (IG:3) The participants in Study I emphasized the importance of preparing patients for potential problems and empowering them to call the nurses if needed. Even if the HCPs emphasized that a proactive approach to promote rehabilitation was fundamental, they also repeatedly described rehabilitation as being driven by the patient's initiative. The experiences described in Study IV illuminate the potential consequences of this. Some women in the CG expressed a feeling of being left alone, and felt that they had to manage physical and psychological strains by themselves. Conversely, the proactive approach within the intervention, which included early identification of needs, provision of relevant information based on the situation, and support in navigating the healthcare system, supported the women in the IG and they expressed this proactive approach as a key component of their care. The women in the OG mostly expressed satisfaction with existing structures within the healthcare system.

Finally, the women in Study IV, regardless of group, expressed a need for followup beyond the period of active treatment. This need arose because the long-term side-effects and life adjustments to regain normalcy often required information and support to recognize the expected consequences and handle upcoming strain.

Discussion

Methodological considerations

In all research, the results must reflect the truth in order to contribute to and guide clinical practice (157). This thesis illuminates different perspectives on individualized rehabilitation, supported by both quantitative and qualitative methodologies, to enhance the understanding of prerequisites for screening-based individualized rehabilitation.

To understand the methodologies used, different approaches to discuss the results are required. For qualitative methodology in Studies I and IV, trustworthiness will be addressed by focusing on the well-established concepts of credibility, dependability, confirmability, and transferability (185). Studies II and III, both utilized a quantitative research design, and so the discussion will be guided by concepts such as validity and reliability (157, 186).

Trustworthiness

The degree of confidence that the researcher has in their qualitative data is assessed using the trustworthiness criteria of credibility, confirmability, dependability, and transferability. The central feature of trustworthiness is to confirm that the findings accurately reflect the experiences and viewpoints of the participants (157, 187).

Credibility

Credibility is concerned with confidence in the truth of the data and in the researchers' interpretations (157). This incorporates the relevance of the data collection, the analytical strategies, the study context, and the characteristics of the participants (185).

Focus group interviews for data collection are characterized by involving participants who possess certain traits and who are able to provide qualitative data through focused discussion that can then be used to understand the topic of interest (160). The group dynamic can lead to new insights that might not emerge in individual interviews, as experiences are mirrored against others. This was therefore considered to be a suitable data collection method in Studies I and IV.

One risk associated with focus groups is that dominant group members may influence the discussion topics, impeding some participants from having their voices heard and limiting the amount of truth generated from the interview. It is the researcher's responsibility to ensure that all participants have the opportunity to speak during the interview. The decision to have two interviewers present in all interviews, one of whom had extensive experience with focus group interviews, ensured that all participants could contribute to the conversation and thereby increased the credibility.

Another criticism of focus group interviews is that they can be time-consuming and challenging to organize. In Study IV, last-minute cancellations meant that some interviews only included few participants. However, this might be expected when conducting research among people with health problems. In order to ensure credibility it was decided to conduct three additional interviews. Digital interviews might have reduced dropouts but would have entailed other risks, such as excluding individuals with limited knowledge of digital communication.

To further increase credibility, member checking (161) was conducted in both studies by having one interviewer summarize and present the identified issues to the participants for confirmation and clarification at the end of each interview.

Content analysis is a widely used method to analyze qualitative data, but has been questioned as being too standardized, leading to poorer quality than methods with a philosophical basis (188). Graneheim and Lundman (2004) discussed a number of concepts in qualitative content analysis to strengthen the validity and trustworthiness of the method (171), which were followed during the analyses in Studies I and IV. In a more recent article, Graneheim and Lundman (2020) divided the concepts into de-contextualization and re-contextualization, clarifying what really happens during the analysis. One risk during the de-contextualization is loss of context and meaning (174). In Study IV, two of the authors coded the text separately and agreed on the coding scheme, to ensure that important content remained during the analysis. A strength of both Study I and Study IV is the thorough description of the analytical process, and the fact that all authors were engaged in the analysis and agreed on the result.

The researchers involved in the studies came from different professions (research triangulation), each contributing unique perspectives and knowledge to the analysis (185).

The study context was relevant in relation to the aims of both studies. One limitation of Study I is that although a variety of professions and units participated, they were all part of the same university hospital. In Study I, key persons (unit managers) were involved in the recruitment process, potentially affecting the inclusion and exclusion of participants. In Study IV, the author of this thesis personally invited the participants, strengthening the trustworthiness of the recruitment process. Space triangulation (exploring the same phenomenon across multiple sites) and person triangulation (collecting data from different levels of people) (157) enhanced the credibility.

Participants were purposefully invited in both studies to achieve a variation in individual characteristics. Purposeful sampling is recommended when the intention is to recruit informants who are well-acquainted with the topic of interest (189). In Study I, various professions representing all three levels of the rehabilitation pyramid (basic, specialized, and advanced) were included in the interviews. This approach provided insights from a team perspective, although no conclusions can be drawn for individual professions. Study IV included participants from the different randomization groups (IG/CG/OG), of different ages, and with different-living situations, providing a broad range of experiences. Ensuring variation in the qualitative studies strengthened their credibility.

Dependability

Dependability refers to the stability of data over time (157, 185) and the possibility of the study being replicated with similar findings (185). The data in Study I were collected in 2016-2017 under the circumstances that characterized the organization at that time, while the data in Study IV were collected in 2022. To strengthen dependability, the procedures for data collection included a semi-structured interview guide to ensure that the interviews focused on the aim of the studies and that the different aspects were covered in all interviews. A thorough description of the context and the research process was provided in both studies to enhance dependability. Moreover, the involvement of co-authors during the process allowed for discussion related to changes over time. The content of the added interviews in Study IV did not differ from that of the initial interviews.

Confirmability

Confirmability refers to objectivity, and whether the result represents the experiences of the participants rather than being biased by the researchers' motivations or perspectives (157, 185, 187). Preunderstanding could be seen as a threat to confirmability, but has also been discussed as important and valuable in qualitative research (170). The preunderstanding of the authors was discussed repeatedly during the analysis in Studies I and IV. These discussions and the awareness among the researchers of the mix in experiences in BC care and rehabilitation ensured that the interpretation was grounded in the data (190). Both studies were strengthened by investigator triangulation, as at least two of the authors made decisions about the coding, analysis, and interpretation (157). Moreover, in both studies, quotations were used to exemplify the interpretation and support confirmability (157).
Transferability

Transferability refers to applicability, and whether the findings can be transferred to other settings (157, 185, 190). To enhance transferability of Studies I and IV, thorough descriptions of the context and the recruitment process were provided. The transferability was also increased by the consistency with results from other international studies, both within BC and for cancer diagnosis in general. A limitation is that only Swedish-speaking patients were invited in Study IV. In a multicultural society, knowledge of rehabilitation needs in all women diagnosed with BC is of the utmost importance to enable PCC. This demands further studies in this context to enable transferability of results across language and cultural boundaries.

Validity

Research aims to reach well-founded conclusions (186), and four concepts of validity are used to evaluate the methodology of a quantitative study: internal, external, construct, and statistical conclusion validity (157, 186). These concepts will guide the discussion of the validity of Studies II and III.

Internal validity

Internal validity refers to the extent to which an investigation makes alternative explanations of the results implausible. Within an investigation, the design is of utmost importance to ensure that the independent variable accounts for the results seen in the dependent variable (157, 186). The cross-sectional design of Study III precludes causal relationships between the dependent and independent variables. Still, a discussion of relevant threats to internal validity is important if factors outside a study are present that may affect the results.

A potential threat to the experience of distress at inclusion in Study III is *history*, which refers to any event occurring at the time of the study that may account for the results (186). Factors such as family crisis, change in jobs, or experience of illness other than BC could have contributed to the experienced level of distress on an individual level. The COVID-19 pandemic might have affected both self-reported distress and other self-reported data. This possibility is indicated by the fact that 44% reported distress levels of \geq 5 in Study II (conducted before the pandemic) compared to 52% in Study III (conducted during the pandemic). However, future studies are needed to determine if the level of distress was indeed different during the pandemic. A strength is that Study II, that led to a change in cut-off for distress in this setting, was carried out before the COVID-19 pandemic.

Another potential threat is *instrumentation*, which refers to changes in the measuring instrument (186). The use of well-validated instruments for distress, HRQoL and resilience is therefore a strength of Studies II and III.

Attrition is an important concern in RCTs, and was therefore carefully explored in Study II. In this study, the CG did not complete participation to the same extent as the IG and OG. It is well known that attrition is a more common problem in control groups, possibly because they see no advantage in participating (157). A new power calculation was made based on these results, to ensure sufficient statistical power in the main RCT. This emphasizes the importance of feasibility testing to ensure internal validity in RCT studies.

External validity

External validity refers to whether the results can be generalized to other settings, populations, and circumstances (157, 186), and encompasses all dimensions of generality. Limitations in generality are referred to as threats to external validity.

Sample characteristics refer to whether the results can be generalized to other samples, including persons that might vary in age, ethnic background, gender, education, or any other characteristics (186). Studies II and III were both limited to Swedish-speaking persons. The setting for these studies is a multicultural society, and the exclusion of individuals not fluent in Swedish is a limitation. There is a need for future studies where language is not an exclusion criterion. Another limitation is that only women were included; however, since very few men are affected by BC, it would have been challenging to achieve statistically-significant conclusions when comparing results. A strength of the study is the multicenter design, as participants were included from both a university hospital and a county hospital.

Reactivity of assessment refers to the possibility of participants' responses being influenced by their knowing that they are being assessed (186). Most of the data in Study III were self-reported. Self-reported health data are valuable in research, but have limitations. Known risks include individuals giving socially desirable answers that are not completely true (social desirability), or intentionally trying to create a false-positive impression (fake good) (191). It is important to be aware of these possibilities.

Construct validity

This term refers to the extent to which the measure assesses the area of interest (186), how well the measure captures what it is intended to measure, and its usefulness in explaining the results (157). The design of the ReScreen study was based on screening for distress with the DT. The term "distress" has no direct equivalent in Swedish, and the instrument has been validated in Swedish cancer contexts using the English word "distress". Understanding this term was crucial for the study design.

To ensure understanding of the term "distress", before the start of the feasibility study approximately 50 patients were asked to complete the DT and reflect on its usefulness and their understanding of the concept. Neither in this pre-test nor during

the inclusion in Study II was the understanding of the term identified as an issue. This aligns with previous research findings in a Swedish context, showing that the concept and definition of distress are well understood (34). Additionally, the findings from Study III, with associations between high distress and lower HRQoL, lower resilience, and poorer self-reported financial situation, indicate that the participants comprehended the meaning of "distress". The DT has been further validated in numerous countries and contexts (37).

A strength of Study III was its use of well-validated instruments for distress, HRQoL, and resilience. Steiner and colleagues (2015) have stated that a study can only show the validity of an instrument in a certain context, among a certain group of people (191). The QLQ-C30 and QLQ-BR23 have been validated in several contexts, in cancer and in BC (41, 44, 167, 169). CD-RISC has good psychometric properties, and has been found to be suitable for use in research and clinical settings in Sweden (165).

Statistical conclusion validity

Statistical conclusion validity refers to whether the conclusions drawn from statistical analyses are reasonable, accurate, and reliable, based on adequate sampling procedures, appropriate statistical tests, and measurement procedures. A major strength of Study III was that the data were monitored by an external auditor. Another strength, concerning missing data, was that standard instructions from the EORTC were used when imputing data for the QLQ-C30 and QLQ-BR23 (168), and recommendations from the Connor Davidson website were used when imputing data for the CD-RISC (177).

Type I and II errors are critical threats that need to be addressed. A type I error occurs when a significant group difference is found but no actual group difference exists (186). This risk is associated with the p-value threshold, which was set to 0.05 in Study III. With this threshold, the risk of a false positive claim for a single test is 5% (180).

No p-values were adjusted for multiple testing in Study III. Conducting multiple tests increases the risk of a type I error (157). A Bonferroni correction can mitigate this risk, corresponding to a more conservative p-value threshold. However, the downside is that it tends to increase the risk of a type II error (157), where no statistically significant group difference is found even though an actual group difference exists (186). Since no adjustment for multiple testing was performed, the results of each test should be interpreted with caution.

Backward selection, or elimination, was used in order to develop a prediction model for high distress. Variable selection ultimately provides a balance between fit and simplicity (178). Backward elimination assesses the joint predictive ability of variables. The process starts with all variables being included in the model. Next, the variable with the highest p-value is removed and the model is refitted. This variable removal and refitting is then repeated until all variables pass a predefined p-value based criterion (179). One disadvantage is that once a variable is eliminated from the model, it is not re-entered. A variable dropped at an early stage of this process could have been significant in the final model (178). Backward selection with a p-value threshold for variable removal of 0.157 corresponds to minimization of the AIC, which takes into account both model fit and model complexity in order to minimize the risk of overfitting in prediction modeling (179).

The final prediction model for distress reached an AUC of 0.684, which has the following interpretation: if one patient with and one without distress are randomly drawn from the underlying population, then the model will assign a higher predicted probability of distress for the patient with distress with 68.4% probability.

Reliability

Reliability is concerned with consistency and the absence of variation when measuring an attribute for an individual (157). The HRQoL instruments used in this thesis were developed by the EORTC and have been psychometrically tested, showing good or moderate results for validity and reliability (41, 44). The core instrument (QLQ-C30) combined with the diagnosis-specific module (QLQ-BR23) allowed measuring both general and specific HRQoL. The EORTC instruments are commonly used within cancer and BC contexts, which enables comparison of results with other studies. When measuring resilience, the instrument developed by Connor and Davidson (2003) was used, which is a widely used scale to measure resilience. The instrument has shown good validity and reliability (162). The DT is extensively used worldwide (37), and has shown good validity and reliability in Swedish cancer contexts (34, 35).

One important aspect to consider regarding reliability is the internal consistency of the instrument, which refers to the extent to which items in an instrument are reliably measuring the critical attribute. Greater internal consistency is obtained when a set of items are highly intercorrelated (157). Internal consistency is often assessed using Cronbach's alpha. Coefficients above 0.7 are generally regarded as acceptable, although values are often recommended to be above 0.8 (good), or even 0.9 (excellent) (40). In previous research investigating the reliability of the instruments used in this thesis, Cronbach's alpha was 0.7 or higher for most of the scales within the instruments.

General discussion of results

The overall aim of this thesis was to investigate the prerequisites for screening-based individualized rehabilitation following primary BC diagnosis, treatment, and follow-up. The results highlight the importance of organizational structures for identifying needs, as well as knowledge and collaboration within and between different parts of the cancer trajectory to ensure prerequisites for individualized rehabilitation. The results also clearly show associations between high distress and several demographic and clinical variables, as well as lower HRQoL and resilience, all together indicating a great need for individualized rehabilitation. Cancer rehabilitation is a prioritized area in Swedish cancer care (47, 74, 122), with initiatives aiming to strengthen and improve access to rehabilitation for individuals with cancer. The results from this thesis have the potential to contribute to accomplishing this.

Screening for rehabilitation needs

When Study I took place, early screening for rehabilitation needs was not fully implemented in clinical practice, and the study identified both organizational and individual barriers among HCPs. Lack of structures was evident, and screening for needs with validated instruments was not applied routinely. Instead, HCPs often relied on their own ability to identify signs of vulnerability as an indicator of extended needs. Today there is an ongoing strategy on the national and regional levels to implement the NCRG, which includes screening for rehabilitation needs with validated instruments. However, in line with the findings from Studies I and IV, there still appear to be challenges in implementing these routines at the local level.

This issue has also been observed internationally, where the implementation of rehabilitation strategies articulated by policy bodies remains challenging (192). Previous research has shown several barriers to using screening tools, including both organizational issues such as insufficient implementation of structured needs assessments (193), and individual factors such as HCPs questioning the added value of these tools (140, 194). In Study I, screening was described as an improved and reliable way to identify needs, but also as a risk since a more structured approach might compromise the patient–HCP relationship. This result contrasts with earlier findings that validated screening instruments improve the relationship between the patient and the HCP (193). The lack of congruence in identifying rehabilitation needs may explain why rehabilitation often focuses on medical and treatment-related perspectives, as the structures for such actions are already well established within the medical process. While these structures are important, they need to be complemented to increase patients' access to rehabilitation. Moreover, systematic

screening for needs should be emphasized as a prerequisite for identifying individual rehabilitation requirements.

The DT is used worldwide, which provides robustness to the screening part of the ReScreen intervention. However, despite international studies indicating relevant cut-offs for distress to identify patients with extended needs, there is a lack of corresponding knowledge in the Swedish context. The decision to use the DT for screening in the ReScreen RCT was based on earlier promising results when using the DT in rehabilitation interventions for women with BC (152). The association between high distress and lower HRQoL in Study III indicates that screening for distress was relevant to identify persons with extended rehabilitation needs also in this context. The finding aligns with earlier research that concluded the DT to be effective in discriminating between high and low HRQoL (34, 195). This is crucial, since if a more vulnerable group of women can be identified early, resources can be allocated to those most in need of support and extended rehabilitation.

One particularly interesting result of this thesis is the variation in rehabilitation experience between the three groups (IG, CG, OG) in Study IV. The women with low distress before start of treatment (OG) expressed satisfaction and trust in the healthcare system (usual care) to a greater extent than the women with high distress. This finding may indicate that distress level before the start of treatment can be used to identify people in need of extended rehabilitation support. However, further investigation is warranted.

Individualized rehabilitation

Besides screening for rehabilitation needs, other factors are important to ensure individualized rehabilitation. Systematic screening for distress concerns the early identification of individuals who may require additional support, and needs to be followed by conversations with the patient to jointly develop a rehabilitation plan tailored to the patient's needs and preferences. Feeling normal and being able to return to everyday life, repeatedly raised as important in Study IV, are core aspects of the goal of cancer rehabilitation (121, 122), and are frequently mentioned in research exploring the experience of women with BC. Although many women regain levels of QoL comparable to general populations, long-term issues such as hot flashes, sexual problems, pain, fatigue, cognitive difficulties, and sleep disturbance continue to affect many women years after BC treatment. Ongoing screening and support for such issues are essential for the return to normalcy (5, 196). This knowledge puts a focus on individualized rehabilitation that requires a comprehensive and holistic approach, and includes strains related to diagnosis and treatment, individual reactions, and what normal life represents for the individual woman.

According to Ekman and colleges (2011), a partnership with the patient is initiated through the narrative, which includes the personal account of the illness, related symptoms, and how these affect life in relation to the personal context (19). Shifting the focus from medical aspects to the individual needs and resources enables the person to share beliefs and values that need to be part of the individualized rehabilitation process. In Study IV the women's stories indicated individual prerequisites for recovery during the cancer trajectory, often influenced by factors such as social network and the individual attitudes and recourses in the cancer process. Research has repeatedly shown the need for an individualized rehabilitation approach that considers personal experiences and prerequisites (111, 197) to optimize rehabilitation. The opportunity for patients to share their narrative facilitates this process.

In Study III, several demographic and clinical variables were associated with distress, emphasizing the need to address factors potentially affecting the level of distress before start of treatment. The person's narrative, complemented with well-designed validated instruments, enables identification of these factors, and even though the majority are not modifiable by HCPs, it is important to recognize them to provide individualized support. This is an essential part of PCC, and means that HCPs must be attentive and flexible to the person's prerequisites when developing a rehabilitation plan.

The finding that a lower level of exercise before start of treatment was associated with high distress is important in this context. The well-known favorable effects of physical activity during and after BC treatment motivate the inclusion of exercise as an integral part of rehabilitation. However, evidence shows that it is challenging to maintain a physically active lifestyle during and after BC treatment (198). The importance of encouraging physical activity becomes even more evident and challenging if the initial level of exercise is low. Understanding individuals' experiences of facilitators and barriers to physical activity becomes crucial, especially since physical activity is often viewed as a means to return to or maintain normalcy (112, 198).

McCormack and McCance (2021) have underscored the need for competent HCPs who can navigate the contextual elements within the care environment, ensuring that the person's needs remain the focal point of all caring processes (17). The holistic and comprehensive assignment of the CNCC incorporates ingredients such as high-quality information, availability, and care coordination (75), all of which are factors that the women in Study IV expressed as important to facilitate their rehabilitation journey. They also emphasized the importance of feeling safe, which was closely related to the feeling of being recognized and known, as well as receiving relevant and individualized information. Continuity and pro-activity were factors expressed as facilitating, but the experience of having received them varied greatly. This might have been due to the fact that patients were expected to contact

healthcare when problems arose, meaning that rehabilitation was driven by the patient's initiative and not by healthcare.

Research has repeatedly emphasized that women with BC desire timely and individualized information during the cancer trajectory (90, 199, 200), as well as information about rehabilitation and available rehabilitation resources (201, 202). They seek assistance in navigating a fragmented healthcare system (71, 203), and desire continuity with the healthcare providers they encounter (71, 118, 141). These important areas are often reported in research as unmet needs of women with BC (147, 204), and the comprehensive and holistic approach that is demanded for support and rehabilitation seems to be challenging (204). The known challenge in implementing the role of the CNCC on the local level in Sweden (78) is possibly mirrored in the results of both Study I and Study IV. Even though the competence among HCPs was high, as were the intentions to provide individualized rehabilitation, the lack of structures hampered the patients' access to rehabilitation. The components of the CNCC role description were incorporated into the structure of the ReScreen intervention. The results of Study IV clearly show that the IG appreciated receiving continuity, navigation, and individualized information. Furthermore, the findings indicate that this approach facilitated rehabilitation for the women in the IG.

One potential barrier in screening for needs, identified in previous research, is the HCPs' ability to respond to the result of the screening (193, 205). This further highlights the importance of structures, not only to enable identification of needs, but also to provide HCPs with evidence-based tools showing how these needs can be met with effective rehabilitation actions. A key challenge identified in both Study I and Study IV was the suboptimal collaboration both within and between units during cancer treatment, which hindered a comprehensive rehabilitation process, including referral to specialized and advanced levels for rehabilitation. While HCPs were experts in breast cancer treatment and its expected side effects, emphasizing the importance of preparing patients for potential problems, the absence of structured rehabilitation pathways led to inconsistent support and advice.

Previous research has highlighted the difficulties in implementing cancer rehabilitation models that emphasize the importance of interdisciplinary teams. Barriers such as provider awareness, resource availability, and infrastructure needs have been identified (206). Another significant barrier is that the CNCC often changes during the cancer trajectory, because different specialties and CNCCs handle different treatment modalities (141). This affects continuity, one of the core aspects emphasized by the women in Study IV. Knowledge about whom to contact and how to do so is essential for the patient, and so common structures and recommendations for rehabilitation within and between specialties are crucial. A well-defined rehabilitation process is essential, encompassing both the expertise in rehabilitation itself and the organizational support for rehabilitation. This ensures

that needs are accurately identified and addressed at the appropriate level of rehabilitation required.

The DST within the ReScreen intervention was developed on the basis of known problems in the context of BC, aiming to provide HCPs with a tool to facilitate rehabilitation actions based on best knowledge and evidence. In Study IV the research nurse followed the women in the IG throughout the follow-up year, independent of treatment regimen, and used the DST in the rehabilitation plan. The results indicate that this structure facilitated the patient's rehabilitation process.

In summary, establishing structures for screening is an essential prerequisite for individualized rehabilitation. It is also crucial to provide frameworks for HCPs to manage the screening results and address the underlying cause of distress, including effective support and rehabilitation on the level of rehabilitation that best support the individual's needs. The results from this thesis add important knowledge regarding how this can be accomplished, but further studies are needed to evaluate how the ReScreen intervention can contribute to and facilitate individuals access to the rehabilitation they need.

Strengths and limitations

Strengths		Limitations
Study I	 Focus group interviews conducted by experienced researchers. Immediate member checking. Participants varied in both profession and levels of rehabilitation. 	 Only participants from hospital-based cancer rehabilitation, lacking perspectives from primary healthcare. Only one physician and one psychologist participated
Study II	 Large number of participants for a feasibility and pilot study (N=85). 	 Exclusion of women with relapse and those unable to communicate in Swedish.
Study III	 Comprehensive investigation allowed comparison of several predictors of distress. Assessment time point close to diagnosis, a critical period known to be stressful. Prospective design. Large sample size (N=633). Cut-off for distress based on feasibility study in the same context. Procedures standardized according to published protocol. Validated instruments. Multicenter study. 	 Cross-sectional design prevented exploration of causal relationships. HRQoL, distress, resilience, living habits, and medication based on self-reported data. Exclusion of women with relapse and those unable to communicate in Swedish.
Study IV	 Inductive and deductive design. One experienced researcher present at each interview. Immediate member checking. Participants from all three groups (intervention, control, and observation). 	 Only 30 of 96 invited persons participated. Some focus groups smaller than recommended.

Table 7. Summary of strength and limitations of the four studies

Conclusions

This thesis provides significant insights, new data, and a deeper understanding of the prerequisites for screening-based individualized rehabilitation in the initial phase of receiving a BC diagnosis. It emphasizes the importance of implementing structures that incorporate validated screening instruments and a person-centered approach for recovery and rehabilitation. A lack of such structures increases the risk of the BC trajectory becoming predominantly medically and treatment-driven, which can complicate and hinder rehabilitation tailored to individual needs. The following conclusions can be drawn from the studies:

- Lack of structures for rehabilitation, including referral for specialized or advanced rehabilitation, underscores the urgent need to implement such structures.
- Inconsistency in identifying and supporting women with extended needs may result in rehabilitation being dependent on the capacity and knowledge of individual HCPs rather than tailored to women's individual needs.
- The DT is a clinically useful tool for early identification of women with extended rehabilitation needs, and high distress is associated with lower HRQoL.
- It is crucial for HCPs to focus on modifiable lifestyle factors associated with high distress, such as exercise, at an early stage.
- Navigation, continuity, and individualized support are important throughout the rehabilitation process. When the needs of women receiving a BC diagnosis do not align with the resources offered by the healthcare system, a comprehensive, proactive, and person-centered approach to rehabilitation is essential.
- The feasibility study provided crucial knowledge that enhanced the conditions for conducting the ReScreen study in a stable and robust manner.

Future perspectives

Based on findings from the studies included in this thesis, future research should focus on:

- The effect of screening-based individualized rehabilitation on distress, HRQoL, resilience, healthcare consumption, sick leave, patient satisfaction with care, and health economic effects.
- Implementation of the NCRG in terms of screening for extended needs and the use of a DST. This should include exploring HCPs' experiences of using screening instruments as well as DSTs, and investigating the organizational structures needed to facilitate implementation. It is also important to continue exploring patient experiences of cancer rehabilitation.
- Interventions based on screening for rehabilitation needs and comprehensive individualized rehabilitation in various cancer contexts.
- Longitudinal studies to investigate how distress changes over time, and relationships between distress and demographic and clinical factors, to enable optimized support.
- Investigating the team perspective in cancer rehabilitation, and how needs can be identified to jointly support the patient throughout the cancer process.
- Exploring the experience of migrated women, who are often excluded from studies due to language barriers, to enable rehabilitation tailored to their needs and context.

Acknowledgements

Jag vill rikta ett innerligt och stort tack till alla som på något sätt varit med och bidragit till denna avhandling! Ett speciellt tack vill jag ge till:

Alla kvinnor som deltagit i studierna, och generöst delat med sig av sina upplevelser genom att fylla i enkäter och delta i intervjuer. Genom att vi får ta del av era erfarenheter och behov så har vi fått mer kunskap som kan leda till utveckling och förbättring.

All hälso- och sjukvårdspersonal som deltog i studie I. Er kunskap och erfarenhet är ovärderlig, tack.

Kirurgiska kliniken, SUS Malmö och Lund. Tack för att jag genom åren fått utvecklas som sjuksköterska genom kliniskt arbete, utmaningar och utbildningar, och nu genom möjligheten att få genomföra min forskarutbildning. Tack till chefer på olika nivåer som alltid uppmuntrat och möjliggjort den utveckling jag strävat efter och behövt. Och tack till alla kollegor jag fått arbeta tillsammans med, tänk att vi får vara med och ge god vård till alla våra patienter!

Lunds universitet. Tack för att jag antagits som doktorand och har haft möjlighet att inom utbildningen utvecklas och vässas, genom kurser och seminarieverksamhet.

ReScreens forskargrupp. Tack för att jag alltid känt mig inkluderad, tack för alla viktiga samtal, på djupet, höjden, bredden och längden. Och tack för fin gemenskap.

Anslagsgivare. Tack till vårdakademin som två gånger givit doktorandstöd som möjliggjort min forskarutbildning. Tack till Bröstcancerföreningen, Cancerfonden, Forte och Cancer- och allergifonden som genom sitt stöd till ReScreen-projektet även möjliggjort min doktorandresa.

Marlene Malmström, sjuksköterska och docent, min huvudhandledare. Du tog mig under dina vingar och har guidat mig på en bitvis ganska snårig resa. Din klokhet, kunskap och erfarenhet har varit ovärderlig, liksom ditt engagemang, din generositet och passion för människor och forskning. Marlene, du ser hela människan, och dina fina egenskaper passar så bra i dina olika uppdrag. Du läser enkelt av mig, och har gått den där extra milen tillsammans med mig, stort tack!

Ulrika Olsson Möller, fysioterapeut och docent, min biträdande handledare. Fysioterapeuten finns alltid kvar säger mina patienter, och så sant som det är sagt, du har alltid funnits där! Du har pushat, korrigerat, bromsat, uppmuntrat och väglett. Gjort det där jag så väl behövt för att komma dit jag är idag, så värdefull du har varit och är för mig, stort tack!

Lisa Rydén, läkare och professor i kirurgi, min biträdande handledare. Vi har haft förmånen att dela både klinik och forskning, och jag har njutit av att få ta del av din enorma kunskap på båda dessa områden. Du ser allt, från de stora sammanhangen till de små detaljerna, och du ser alltid människan framför dig. Du är en sann förebild, stort tack!

Pär Ola Bendahl, statistiker. Tack att du har guidat mig genom en liten liten del av din enorma kunskap. Din pedagogiska förmåga, ditt tålamod och vilja att jag ska förstå har tagit mig flera pinnhål upp på statistikstegen, fast den är väldigt lång den där stegen... stort tack!

Helena Erixon, forskningssköterska i ReScreen, och Eva Wahlström, administratör i ReScreen. Helena! Du fick mig i hamn! Vilken resa vi delat, hade inte klarat mig utan dig. Du har en fantastisk gåva i att lyssna, stötta, och ställa de rätta frågorna vid rätt tillfälle. Du är fullständigt unik och jag är så tacksam för dig. Eva, du har varit med från dag ett. Tack för att du ställer mig mot väggen, ifrågasätter, tvingar mig att tänka till, men också att du firar med mig! Jag uppskattar dig mer än du anar, stort tack!

Katarina Velickovic, tack att du så tålmodigt delat med dig av din kunskap, och för att du har svarat på alla mina (knäppa och konstiga) frågor. Du är en fantastisk person, och jag är så tacksam över att få jobba tillsammans med dig!

Lotta Dykes, min medförfattare till studie IV och doktorandkollega. Några tusen koder senare... Vilket jobb vi gjort! Och jag fick en fin vän på kuppen. Kram Lotta, du är fantastisk! Nu odlar vi!

Alla kollegor på bröst- och melanommottagningen. Ingen nämnd, ingen glömd, ni är bäst. Sjuksköterskor, sekreterare, läkare, fysioterapeuter, kuratorer... Vilket team vi är! Är så glad och tacksam för varenda en av er, utan er vore världen mindre fin. Tack för att ni stått ut med att jag varit borta så mycket, och alltid mött mig med uppmuntran. Nu jobbar vi vidare för att vara den bästa bröst- och melanommottagningen!

Seminariegruppen PRICE. Vi är bättre tillsammans, eller hur! Doktorandkollegor (gamla som nya) och seniora forskare, tack för kritisk feedback, tack för diskussioner som fört upp ämnen (och mig) på en helt ny nivå, tack för glada skratt, lite gråt, uppmuntran, tålamod, vänskap, AW, glöggmys! Jag kommer sakna er enormt mycket...

Tack Katarina Jandér för att du illustrerade patientens resa genom bröstcancerprocessen.

Mina vänner. Anna – du vet. Allt. Tack att du aldrig är längre bort än min telefon, även om det är lite väl långt till Borås. Tack att du varit med och hejat genom hela

denna berg- och dalbana jag upplevt de senaste åren, tack att du är så klok och alltid står på min sida. Kim, vi bär varandras bördor! Det finns kramar, och så finns Kims kramar. De är som en hälsning från himlen. "Creativity is intelligence having fun", tack för din målning! Vandringsvänner, smågrupp, kyrka. Så rik jag är som har alla er!

Mamma och pappa. Ni tyckte nog jag var galen som gav mig på det här, och ja, på ett sätt... Ni sätter alltid det bästa för mig först, och det finns ingen titel som är viktig för er, ni låter mig känna att det är jag som är viktig. Tack att ni alltid är där och älskar mig fast jag är lite galen!

Mina syskon, Martina och Tobias med familjer. Den fina rosen jag fick när min första förstaförfattarartikel blev publicerad, det gjorde mig så glad. Tack att ni finns där och firar mina segrar med mig! Men framför allt, tack att ni finns där oavsett, alltid.

Per och Inger, Mia och Magnus med familjer. Ni inkluderar mig alltid i familjen, ni frågar hur det går och bryr er om mig. Jag känner mig så omsluten också av er, tack!

Mina barn, Johanna (och Gabbe), Samuel och Maja! Ni är det käraste och vackraste jag har. Bara att ni finns räcker, älskar er mer än ni någonsin kan förstå. Tack att ni stått ut med att jag jobbat så väldigt mycket, ska bli lite annan ordning nu är planen.

Ola, min man och bästa vän. Som du har stått ut. Ibland tittar jag på dig och kan inte tro att det är sant, att du och jag är vi. Tack att du har gett mig utrymmet dessa år har krävt, och att du samtidigt alltid är nära, vid min sida. Tack att du står ut med alla snabba kast mellan hopp och förtvivlan, din stabilitet är min räddning. Jag älskar dig.

References

- 1. Bray F, Laversanne M, Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Soerjomataram I, et al. Global cancer statistics 2022: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 2024;74(3):229-63.
- 2. Statistik bröstcancer. Cancerfonden; 2024. [Cited: 2025-01-15]. Available from: https://www.cancerfonden.se/om-cancer/statistik/brostcancer.
- 3. Wojtyla C, Bertuccio P, Wojtyla A, La Vecchia C. European trends in breast cancer mortality, 1980-2017 and predictions to 2025. Eur J Cancer. 2021;152:4-17.
- 4. Miller KD, Nogueira L, Devasia T, Mariotto AB, Yabroff KR, Jemal A, et al. Cancer treatment and survivorship statistics, 2022. CA Cancer J Clin. 2022;72(5):409-36.
- Schmidt ME, Wiskemann J, Steindorf K. Quality of life, problems, and needs of disease-free breast cancer survivors 5 years after diagnosis. Qual Life Res. 2018;27(8):2077-86.
- Hälso- och sjukvårdslagen. SFS 2017:30. 2017. Sveriges Riksdag. [Cited: 2025-01-15]. Available from: https://www.riksdagen.se/sv/dokument-ochlagar/dokument/svensk-forfattningssamling/halso-och-sjukvardslag-201730_sfs-2017-30/#K8.
- Olsson Möller U, Rydén L, Malmström M. Systematic screening as a tool for individualized rehabilitation following primary breast cancer treatment: study protocol for the ReScreen randomized controlled trial. BMC Cancer. 2020;20(1):484.
- WHO global strategy on integrated people-centred health services 2016-2026. Executive Summary, Placing people and communities at the centre of health services. World Health Organisation. 2015. [Cited: 2025-01-15]. Available from: https://interprofessional.global/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/WHO-2015-Globalstrategy-on-integrated-people-centred-health-services-2016-2026.pdf.
- McCormack B, Borg M, Cardiff S, Dewing J, Jacobs G, Janes N et al. Person-Centredness - the 'state' of the art. International Practice Development Journal. 2015. Available from: https://www.fons.org/wpcontent/uploads/2024/03/IPDJ_05suppl_01.pdfIPDJ_05suppl_01.pdf
- 10. Patientlagen. SFS 2014:821. 2014. Sveriges Riksdag. [Cited: 2025-01-15]. Avilable from: https://www.riksdagen.se/sv/dokument-och-lagar/dokument/svensk-forfattningssamling/patientlag-2014821_sfs-2014-821/
- 11. Om personcentrerad vård. Centrum för personcentrerad vård GPCC. 2023. [Cited: 2025-01-12]. Available from: https://www.gu.se/gpcc/om-personcentrerad-vard
- 12. Ekman N, Taft C, Moons P, Mäkitalo Å, Boström E, Fors A. A state-of-the-art review of direct observation tools for assessing competency in person-centred care. Int J Nurs Stud. 2020;109:103634.

- Munthe C, Sandman L, Cutas D. Person centred care and shared decision making: implications for ethics, public health and research. Health Care Anal. 2012;20(3):231-49.
- 14. Helman CG. Disease versus illness in general practice. J R Coll Gen Pract. 1981;31(230):548-52.
- 15. Eriksson K. Vårdvetenskap. Vetenskapen om vårdandet. Om det tidlösa i tiden. 1:a uppl. Stockholm: Liber AB; 2018.
- 16. McCormack B, McCance TV. Development of a framework for person-centred nursing. J Adv Nurs. 2006;56(5):472-9.
- 17. McCormack B, McCance T. The Person-Centred Nursing Framework. In: Dewing J, McCormack B, McCance, editors. Person-centred Nursing Research: Methodology, Methods and Outcomes. Cham: Springer Nature Switzerland AG; 2021.
- Manen Mv. Phenomonology of Practice: Meaning-Giving Methods in Phenomenological Research and Writing. New York Routledge; 2014. 412 p.
- 19. Ekman I, Swedberg K, Taft C, Lindseth A, Norberg A, Brink E, et al. Personcentered care--ready for prime time. Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs. 2011;10(4):248-51.
- 20. Leplege A, Gzil F, Cammelli M, Lefeve C, Pachoud B, Ville I. Person-centredness: conceptual and historical perspectives. Disabil Rehabil. 2007;29(20-21):1555-65.
- 21. Tao L, Xiang Y, Zeng X, Fu L, Li J, Chen H. Incidence and risk factors for psychological distress in adult female patients with breast cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Front Psychiatry. 2024;15:1309702.
- 22. Lin C, Clark R, Tu P, Bosworth HB, Zullig LL. Breast cancer oral anti-cancer medication adherence: a systematic review of psychosocial motivators and barriers. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2017;165(2):247-60.
- 23. Lam WW, Shing YT, Bonanno GA, Mancini AD, Fielding R. Distress trajectories at the first year diagnosis of breast cancer in relation to 6 years survivorship. Psychooncology. 2012;21(1):90-9.
- Oxford English Dictionary. "Distress". Oxford English Dictionary. [Cited: 2025-01-14]. Available from: https://www.oed.com/search/dictionary/?scope=Entries&q=distress.
- 25. Ridner SH. Psychological distress: concept analysis. J Adv Nurs. 2004;45(5):536-45.
- 26. Montgomery M, McCrone SH. Psychological distress associated with the diagnostic phase for suspected breast cancer: systematic review. J Adv Nurs. 2010;66(11):2372-90.
- 27. Holland JC, Bultz BD. The NCCN guideline for distress management: a case for making distress the sixth vital sign. J Natl Compr Canc Netw. 2007;5(1):3-7.
- NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology: Distress Management 2025 version 1.2025. National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN). 2025. [Cited: 2025-01-15]. Available from: https://www.nccn.org/professionals/physician_gls/pdf/distress.pdf.
- 29. Howell D, Olsen K. Distress-the 6th vital sign. Curr Oncol. 2011;18(5):208-10.

- Bidstrup PE, Johansen C, Kroman N, Belmonte F, Duriaud H, Dalton SO, et al. Effect of a Nurse Navigation Intervention on Mental Symptoms in Patients With Psychological Vulnerability and Breast Cancer: The REBECCA Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Netw Open. 2023;6(6):e2319591.
- 31. Ploos van Amstel FK, Peters M, Donders R, Schlooz-Vries MS, Polman LJM, van der Graaf WTA, et al. Does a regular nurse-led distress screening and discussion improve quality of life of breast cancer patients treated with curative intent? A randomized controlled trial. Psychooncology. 2020;29(4):719-28.
- 32. Syrowatka A, Motulsky A, Kurteva S, Hanley JA, Dixon WG, Meguerditchian AN, et al. Predictors of distress in female breast cancer survivors: a systematic review. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2017;165(2):229-45.
- Riba MB, Donovan KA, Andersen B, Braun I, Breitbart WS, Brewer BW, et al. Distress Management, Version 3.2019, NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology. J Natl Compr Canc Netw. 2019;17(10):1229-49.
- 34. Sarenmalm EK, Nasic S, Håkanson C, Öhlén J, Carlsson E, Pettersson ME, et al. Swedish Version of the Distress Thermometer: Validity Evidence in Patients With Colorectal Cancer. J Natl Compr Canc Netw. 2018;16(8):959-66.
- 35. Thalén-Lindström A, Larsson G, Hellbom M, Glimelius B, Johansson B. Validation of the Distress Thermometer in a Swedish population of oncology patients; accuracy of changes during six months. Eur J Oncol Nurs. 2013;17(5):625-31.
- 36. Donovan KA, Grassi L, McGinty HL, Jacobsen PB. Validation of the distress thermometer worldwide: state of the science. Psychooncology. 2014;23(3):241-50.
- 37. McElroy JA, Waindim F, Weston K, Wilson G. A systematic review of the translation and validation methods used for the national comprehensive cancer network distress thermometer in non-English speaking countries. Psychooncology. 2022;31(8):1267-74.
- 38. Karimi M, Brazier J. Health, Health-Related Quality of Life, and Quality of Life: What is the Difference? Pharmacoeconomics. 2016;34(7):645-9.
- 39. WHOQOL: Measuring Quality of Life. World Health Organisation. 2025 [Cited: 2025-01-15] Available from: https://www.who.int/tools/whoqol.
- 40. Fayers PM, Machin D. Quality of Life: The assessment, analysis and reporting of patient-reported outcomes. 3rd erdition. Chichester: Whiley Blackwell; 2016.
- Aaronson NK, Ahmedzai S, Bergman B, Bullinger M, Cull A, Duez NJ, et al. The European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer QLQ-C30: a qualityof-life instrument for use in international clinical trials in oncology. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1993;85(5):365-76.
- 42. Carr AJ, Gibson B, Robinson PG. Measuring quality of life: Is quality of life determined by expectations or experience? Bmj. 2001;322(7296):1240-3.
- 43. Mokhtari-Hessari P, Montazeri A. Health-related quality of life in breast cancer patients: review of reviews from 2008 to 2018. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2020;18(1):338.

- 44. Sprangers MA, Groenvold M, Arraras JI, Franklin J, te Velde A, Muller M, et al. The European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer breast cancer-specific quality-of-life questionnaire module: first results from a three-country field study. J Clin Oncol. 1996;14(10):2756-68.
- 45. Statistik om bröstcancer. Socialstyrelsen, 2023. [Cited 2025-01-12]. Available from: https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/globalassets/sharepointdokument/artikelkatalog/statistik/2023-10-8807.pdf tatistik om bröstcancer
- 46. Cancer i siffror populärvetenskapliga fakta om cancer 2023. Socialstyrelsen, Cancerfonden. 2023. [Cited: 2025-01-19]. Available from: https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/globalassets/sharepoint-dokument/dokumentwebb/statistik/cancer-i-siffror-2023.pdf <u>cancer-i-siffror-2023.pdf</u>
- 47. Kunskapsbanken Nationallt vårdprogram för bröstcancer. Regionala cancercetrum i samverkan (RCC). 2024. [Cited: 2025-01-15]. Available from: https://kunskapsbanken.cancercentrum.se/diagnoser/brostcancer/vardprogram/.
- Screening för bröstcancer. Socialstyrelsens rekommendation. Socialstyrelsen. 2023. [Cited: 2025-01-15]. Available from: https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/globalassets/sharepointdokument/artikelkatalog/nationella-screeningprogram/2023-2-8360.pdf
- Nationell utvärdering bröstcancerscreening med mammografi. Socialstyrelsen. 2022. [Cited: 2025-01-19]. Available from: https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/globalassets/sharepointdokument/artikelkatalog/nationella-riktlinjer/2022-6-7958.pdf.
- Bröstcancer standardiserat vårdförlopp. Regionala cancercentrum i samverkan (RCC). 2024. [Cited: 25-01-19]. Available from: https://kunskapsbanken.cancercentrum.se/globalassets/cancerdiagnoser/brost/vardforl opp/svf-brostcancer.pdf.
- 51. Goldhirsch A, Winer EP, Coates AS, Gelber RD, Piccart-Gebhart M, Thürlimann B, et al. Personalizing the treatment of women with early breast cancer: highlights of the St Gallen International Expert Consensus on the Primary Therapy of Early Breast Cancer 2013. Ann Oncol. 2013;24(9):2206-23.
- 52. Nielsen TO, Leung SCY, Rimm DL, Dodson A, Acs B, Badve S, et al. Assessment of Ki67 in Breast Cancer: Updated Recommendations From the International Ki67 in Breast Cancer Working Group. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2021;113(7):808-19.
- 53. Ehinger A, Malmström P, Bendahl PO, Elston CW, Falck AK, Forsare C, et al. Histological grade provides significant prognostic information in addition to breast cancer subtypes defined according to St Gallen 2013. Acta Oncol. 2017;56(1):68-74.
- Rosell L, Melander W, Lindahl B, Nilbert M, Malmström M. Registered nurses' views on consideration of patient perspectives during multidisciplinary team meetings in cancer care. BMC Nurs. 2022;21(1):350.
- 55. Burstein HJ, Curigliano G, Thürlimann B, Weber WP, Poortmans P, Regan MM, et al. Customizing local and systemic therapies for women with early breast cancer: the St. Gallen International Consensus Guidelines for treatment of early breast cancer 2021. Ann Oncol. 2021;32(10):1216-35.

- Cardoso F, Kyriakides S, Ohno S, Penault-Llorca F, Poortmans P, Rubio IT, et al. Early breast cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up[†]. Ann Oncol. 2019;30(8):1194-220.
- 57. Fisher B, Anderson S, Bryant J, Margolese RG, Deutsch M, Fisher ER, et al. Twenty-year follow-up of a randomized trial comparing total mastectomy, lumpectomy, and lumpectomy plus irradiation for the treatment of invasive breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2002;347(16):1233-41.
- Chu QD, Hsieh MC, Yi Y, Lyons JM, Wu XC. Outcomes of Breast-Conserving Surgery Plus Radiation vs Mastectomy for All Subtypes of Early-Stage Breast Cancer: Analysis of More Than 200,000 Women. J Am Coll Surg. 2022;234(4):450-64.
- 59. Loibl S, André F, Bachelot T, Barrios CH, Bergh J, Burstein HJ, et al. Early breast cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guideline for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2024;35(2):159-82.
- 60. Rosenberg SM, Dominici LS, Gelber S, Poorvu PD, Ruddy KJ, Wong JS, et al. Association of Breast Cancer Surgery With Quality of Life and Psychosocial Wellbeing in Young Breast Cancer Survivors. JAMA Surg. 2020;155(11):1035-42.
- 61. Gulis K, Ellbrant J, Bendahl PO, Svensjö T, Rydén L. Health-related quality of life by type of breast surgery in women with primary breast cancer: prospective longitudinal cohort study. BJS Open. 2024;8(3).
- 62. Curigliano G, Burstein HJ, E PW, Gnant M, Dubsky P, Loibl S, et al. De-escalating and escalating treatments for early-stage breast cancer: the St. Gallen International Expert Consensus Conference on the Primary Therapy of Early Breast Cancer 2017. Ann Oncol. 2019;30(7):1181.
- de Boniface J, Filtenborg Tvedskov T, Rydén L, Szulkin R, Reimer T, Kühn T, et al. Omitting Axillary Dissection in Breast Cancer with Sentinel-Node Metastases. N Engl J Med. 2024;390(13):1163-75.
- 64. Appelgren M, Sackey H, Wengström Y, Johansson K, Ahlgren J, Andersson Y, et al. Patient-reported outcomes one year after positive sentinel lymph node biopsy with or without axillary lymph node dissection in the randomized SENOMAC trial. Breast. 2022;63:16-23.
- 65. McGale P, Taylor C, Correa C, Cutter D, Duane F, Ewertz M, et al. Effect of radiotherapy after mastectomy and axillary surgery on 10-year recurrence and 20-year breast cancer mortality: meta-analysis of individual patient data for 8135 women in 22 randomised trials. Lancet. 2014;383(9935):2127-35.
- 66. Årsrapport 2021 från Nationell Kvalitetsregister för Bröstcancer (NKBC). Regionala cancercentrun i samverkan (RCC). 2021. [Cited: 2025-01-15]. Available from: https://cancercentrum.se/contentassets/c36b580a94ab4c3794aa9d41bb954871/ett-urval-av-data-fran-nkbc-rapporten-for2021.pdf.
- 67. Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group (EBCTCG). Long-term outcomes for neoadjuvant versus adjuvant chemotherapy in early breast cancer: meta-analysis of individual patient data from ten randomised trials. Lancet Oncol. 2018;19(1):27-39.

- Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group (EBCTCG). Effects of chemotherapy and hormonal therapy for early breast cancer on recurrence and 15year survival: an overview of the randomised trials. Lancet. 2005;365(9472):1687-717.
- 69. Legha SS. Tamoxifen in the treatment of breast cancer. Ann Intern Med. 1988;109(3):219-28.
- 70. Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group (EBCTCG). Aromatase inhibitors versus tamoxifen in early breast cancer: patient-level meta-analysis of the randomised trials. Lancet. 2015;386(10001):1341-52.
- Hajdarevic S, Fallbjörk U, Fransson P, Åström S. Need of support perceived by patients primarily curatively treated for breast, colorectal, or prostate cancer and close to discharge from hospital-A qualitative study. J Clin Nurs. 2022;31(9-10):1216-27.
- 72. Noordman J, Driesenaar JA, Henselmans I, Verboom J, Heijmans M, van Dulmen S. Patient participation during oncological encounters: Barriers and need for supportive interventions experienced by elderly cancer patients. Patient Educ Couns. 2017;100(12):2262-8.
- 73. Pollack AH, Backonja U, Miller AD, Mishra SR, Khelifi M, Kendall L, et al. Closing the Gap: Supporting Patients' Transition to Self-Management after Hospitalization. Proc SIGCHI Conf Hum Factor Comput Syst. 2016;2016:5324-36.
- 74. En nationell cancerstrategi för framtiden, SOU 2009:11. Statens offentliga utredningar. Socialdepertementet. 2009. [Cited: 2025-01-19]. Available from: https://www.regeringen.se/rattsliga-dokument/statens-offentliga-utredningar/2009/02/sou-200911/.
- 75. Nationell beskrivning av kontaktsjuksköterskans uppdrag. Regionala cancercentrum i samverkan (RCC). 2019. [Cited: 2025-01-15]. Available from: https://cancercentrum.se/samverkan/patient-och-narstaende/kontaktsjukskoterska/.
- 76. Kontaktsjuksköterskor i cancervård En studie av befintliga verksamheter i Uppsala-Örebroregionen. Regionala cancercentrum i samverkan (RCC). 2016. [Cited: 2025-01-15]. Available from: https://cancercentrum.se/contentassets/934cffd3c41d4b91b0350bb714f12215/slutrap port_ksskor_cancervard_studie_uao2.pdf.
- 77. Dowling M, Pape E, Geese F, Van Hecke A, Bryant-Lukosius D, Cerón MC, et al. Advanced Practice Nursing Titles and Roles in Cancer Care: A Scoping Review. Semin Oncol Nurs. 2024;40(3):151627.
- Brynskog E, Larsson M, Smith F, Rosell L, Bjuresäter K. Contact nurses' perceptions of their services, organizational prerequisites and moral stress: A crosssectional study in Swedish cancer care. Nordic Journal of Nursing Research. 2024;44:20571585241290325.
- 79. Westman B, Kirkpatrick L, Ebrahim F, Henriksson R, Sharp L. Patient-reported experiences on supportive care strategies following the introduction of the first Swedish national cancer strategy and in accordance with the new patient act. Acta Oncol. 2018;57(3):382-92.

- 80. Mohlin Å, Axelsson U, Bendahl PO, Borrebaeck C, Hegardt C, Johnsson P, et al. Psychological Resilience and Health-Related Quality of Life in Swedish Women with Newly Diagnosed Breast Cancer. Cancer Manag Res. 2020;12:12041-51.
- 81. Fortin J, Leblanc M, Elgbeili G, Cordova MJ, Marin MF, Brunet A. The mental health impacts of receiving a breast cancer diagnosis: A meta-analysis. Br J Cancer. 2021;125(11):1582-92.
- 82. Civilotti C, Botto R, Maran DA, Leonardis B, Bianciotto B, Stanizzo MR. Anxiety and Depression in Women Newly Diagnosed with Breast Cancer and Waiting for Surgery: Prevalence and Associations with Socio-Demographic Variables. Medicina (Kaunas). 2021;57(5).
- Landmark BT, Wahl A. Living with newly diagnosed breast cancer: a qualitative study of 10 women with newly diagnosed breast cancer. J Adv Nurs. 2002;40(1):112-21.
- 84. Drageset S, Lindstrøm TC, Giske T, Underlid K. Being in suspense: women's experiences awaiting breast cancer surgery. J Adv Nurs. 2011;67(9):1941-51.
- 85. Lundberg PC, Phoosuwan N. Life situations of Swedish women after mastectomy due to breast cancer: A qualitative study. Eur J Oncol Nurs. 2022;57:102116.
- 86. Ciria-Suarez L, Jiménez-Fonseca P, Palacín-Lois M, Antoñanzas-Basa M, Fernández-Montes A, Manzano-Fernández A, et al. Breast cancer patient experiences through a journey map: A qualitative study. PLoS One. 2021;16(9):e0257680.
- 87. Rajagopal L, Liamputtong P, McBride KA. The Lived Experience of Australian Women Living with Breast Cancer: A Meta-Synthesis. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2019;20(11):3233-49.
- 88. Cooney MA, Culleton-Quinn E, Stokes E. Current knowledge of pain after breast cancer treatment: a systematic review. Pain Manag Nurs. 2013;14(2):110-23.
- 89. Ilhan E, Chee E, Hush J, Moloney N. The prevalence of neuropathic pain is high after treatment for breast cancer: a systematic review. Pain. 2017;158(11):2082-91.
- 90. Rooth K, Sundberg K, Gustavell T, Langius-Eklöf A, Gellerstedt L. Symptoms and need for individualised support during the first year after primary treatment for breast cancer-A qualitative study. J Clin Nurs. 2024.
- 91. Rosenberg SM, Stanton AL, Petrie KJ, Partridge AH. Symptoms and Symptom Attribution Among Women on Endocrine Therapy for Breast Cancer. Oncologist. 2015;20(6):598-604.
- 92. Zhu Y, Cohen SM, Rosenzweig MQ, Bender CM. Symptom Map of Endocrine Therapy for Breast Cancer: A Scoping Review. Cancer Nurs. 2019;42(5):E19-e30.
- Peddie N, Agnew S, Crawford M, Dixon D, MacPherson I, Fleming L. The impact of medication side effects on adherence and persistence to hormone therapy in breast cancer survivors: A qualitative systematic review and thematic synthesis. Breast. 2021;58:147-59.
- 94. Johnson MC, McGregor AH, A'Hern R, Leff DR, Wells M. 'I presumed the pain would eventually get better by itself'; challenges with access to rehabilitation for upper limb dysfunction after breast cancer treatment Descriptive and qualitative findings from a cross-sectional survey. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2024;50(10):108591.

- 95. Zomkowski K, Cruz de Souza B, Pinheiro da Silva F, Moreira GM, de Souza Cunha N, Sperandio FF. Physical symptoms and working performance in female breast cancer survivors: a systematic review. Disabil Rehabil. 2018;40(13):1485-93.
- 96. Lin Y, Xu Y, Wang C, Song Y, Huang X, Zhang X, et al. Loco-regional therapy and the risk of breast cancer-related lymphedema: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Breast Cancer. 2021;28(6):1261-72.
- 97. Browall M, Brandberg Y, Nasic S, Rydberg P, Bergh J, Rydén A, et al. A prospective exploration of symptom burden clusters in women with breast cancer during chemotherapy treatment. Support Care Cancer. 2017;25(5):1423-9.
- 98. Jordan B, Jahn F, Sauer S, Jordan K. Prevention and Management of Chemotherapy-Induced Polyneuropathy. Breast Care (Basel). 2019;14(2):79-84.
- Boyette-Davis JA, Hou S, Abdi S, Dougherty PM. An updated understanding of the mechanisms involved in chemotherapy-induced neuropathy. Pain Manag. 2018;8(5):363-75.
- 100. Kaboré EG, Macdonald C, Kaboré A, Didier R, Arveux P, Meda N, et al. Risk Prediction Models for Cardiotoxicity of Chemotherapy Among Patients With Breast Cancer: A Systematic Review. JAMA Netw Open. 2023;6(2):e230569.
- 101. Fleming L, Agnew S, Peddie N, Crawford M, Dixon D, MacPherson I. The impact of medication side effects on adherence and persistence to hormone therapy in breast cancer survivors: A quantitative systematic review. Breast. 2022;64:63-84.
- 102. Abrahams HJG, Gielissen MFM, Schmits IC, Verhagen C, Rovers MM, Knoop H. Risk factors, prevalence, and course of severe fatigue after breast cancer treatment: a meta-analysis involving 12 327 breast cancer survivors. Ann Oncol. 2016;27(6):965-74.
- 103. Leysen L, Lahousse A, Nijs J, Adriaenssens N, Mairesse O, Ivakhnov S, et al. Prevalence and risk factors of sleep disturbances in breast cancersurvivors: systematic review and meta-analyses. Support Care Cancer. 2019;27(12):4401-33.
- 104. Agnew S, Crawford M, MacPherson I, Shiramizu V, Fleming L. The impact of symptom clusters on endocrine therapy adherence in patients with breast cancer. Breast. 2024;75:103731.
- 105. Pilevarzadeh M, Amirshahi M, Afsargharehbagh R, Rafiemanesh H, Hashemi SM, Balouchi A. Global prevalence of depression among breast cancer patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2019;176(3):519-33.
- 106. Ellegaard MB, Grau C, Zachariae R, Bonde Jensen A. Fear of cancer recurrence and unmet needs among breast cancer survivors in the first five years. A cross-sectional study. Acta Oncol. 2017;56(2):314-20.
- 107. Kaiser K, Cameron KA, Beaumont J, Garcia SF, Lacson L, Moran M, et al. What does risk of future cancer mean to breast cancer patients? Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2019;175(3):579-84.
- 108. Dijkshoorn ABC, van Stralen HE, Sloots M, Schagen SB, Visser-Meily JMA, Schepers VPM. Prevalence of cognitive impairment and change in patients with breast cancer: A systematic review of longitudinal studies. Psychooncology. 2021;30(5):635-48.

- 109. Sebri V, Pravettoni G. Tailored Psychological Interventions to Manage Body Image: An Opinion Study on Breast Cancer Survivors. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2023;20(4).
- 110. Howard-Anderson J, Ganz PA, Bower JE, Stanton AL. Quality of life, fertility concerns, and behavioral health outcomes in younger breast cancer survivors: a systematic review. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2012;104(5):386-405.
- 111. Drageset S, Lindstrøm TC, Underlid K. "I just have to move on": Women's coping experiences and reflections following their first year after primary breast cancer surgery. Eur J Oncol Nurs. 2016;21:205-11.
- 112. Ax AK, Johansson B, Carlsson M, Nordin K, Börjeson S. Exercise: A positive feature on functioning in daily life during cancer treatment Experiences from the Phys-Can study. Eur J Oncol Nurs. 2020;44:101713.
- 113. de Ligt KM, Heins M, Verloop J, Ezendam NPM, Smorenburg CH, Korevaar JC, et al. The impact of health symptoms on health-related quality of life in early-stage breast cancer survivors. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2019;178(3):703-11.
- 114. Keesing S, Rosenwax L, McNamara B. The implications of women's activity limitations and role disruptions during breast cancer survivorship. Womens Health (Lond). 2018;14:1745505718756381.
- 115. Landmark BT, Bøhler A, Loberg K, Wahl AK. Women with newly diagnosed breast cancer and their perceptions of needs in a health-care context. J Clin Nurs. 2008;17(7b):192-200.
- Williams F, Jeanetta SC. Lived experiences of breast cancer survivors after diagnosis, treatment and beyond: qualitative study. Health Expect. 2016;19(3):631-42.
- 117. Aitken LA, Hossan SZ. The Psychological Distress and Quality of Life of Breast Cancer Survivors in Sydney, Australia. Healthcare (Basel). 2022;10(10).
- 118. Drageset S, Lindstrøm TC, Giske T, Underlid K. Women's experiences of social support during the first year following primary breast cancer surgery. Scand J Caring Sci. 2016;30(2):340-8.
- 119. David Fletcher MS. Psychological Resilience A Review and Critique of Definitions, Concepts, and Theory. European Psychologist. 2013;18(1).
- Krasne M, Ruddy KJ, Poorvu PD, Gelber SI, Tamimi RM, Schapira L, et al. Coping strategies and anxiety in young breast cancer survivors. Support Care Cancer. 2022;30(11):9109-16.
- 121. What does survivorship mean? Let us explain it to you. European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO). ESMO.org 2017. [Cited: 2025-01-19]. Available from: https://www.esmo.org/content/download/117593/2061518/1/ESMO-Patient-Guide-Survivorship.pdf.
- 122. Nationellt vårdprogram för cancerrehabilitering. Regionala cancercentrum i samverkan (RCC). 2023. [Cited: 2025-01-19]. Available from: https://kunskapsbanken.cancercentrum.se/globalassets/vara-uppdrag/rehabiliteringpalliativ-vard/vardprogram/nationellt-vardprogram-cancerrehabilitering.pdf.

- 123. Cancerrehabilitering Ett förslag till förbättring. Socialstyrelsen. 2022. [Cited: 2025-01-15]. Available from: https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/globalassets/sharepoint-dokument/artikelkatalog/ovrigt/2022-5-7936.pdf.
- 124. Christensen JF, Simonsen C, Hojman P. Exercise Training in Cancer Control and Treatment. Compr Physiol. 2018;9(1):165-205.
- 125. Cormie P, Trevaskis M, Thornton-Benko E, Zopf EM. Exercise medicine in cancer care. Aust J Gen Pract. 2020;49(4):169-74.
- 126. Schmitz KH, Campbell AM, Stuiver MM, Pinto BM, Schwartz AL, Morris GS, et al. Exercise is medicine in oncology: Engaging clinicians to help patients move through cancer. CA Cancer J Clin. 2019;69(6):468-84.
- 127. Bolam KA, Mijwel S, Rundqvist H, Wengström Y. Two-year follow-up of the OptiTrain randomised controlled exercise trial. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2019;175(3):637-48.
- 128. Lin Y, Chen Y, Liu R, Cao B. Effect of exercise on rehabilitation of breast cancer surgery patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Nurs Open. 2023;10(4):2030-43.
- 129. Sikandari MH, Siddiqui A, Ahmad M, Shaikh S, Khuwaja S, Ahmad F, et al. Effect of exercise on fatigue and depression in breastcancer women undergoing chemotherapy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Support Care Cancer. 2024;32(8):515.
- 130. Ax AK, Johansson B, Lyth J, Nordin K, Börjeson S. Short- and long-term effect of high versus low-to-moderate intensity exercise to optimise health-related quality of life after oncological treatment-results from the Phys-Can project. Support Care Cancer. 2022;30(7):5949-63.
- 131. Wiggenraad F, Bolam KA, Mijwel S, van der Wall E, Wengström Y, Altena R. Long-Term Favorable Effects of Physical Exercise on Burdensome Symptoms in the OptiTrain Breast Cancer Randomized Controlled Trial. Integr Cancer Ther. 2020;19:1534735420905003.
- 132. Olsson Möller U, Beck I, Rydén L, Malmström M. A comprehensive approach to rehabilitation interventions following breast cancer treatment a systematic review of systematic reviews. BMC Cancer. 2019;19(1):472.
- 133. Sebri V, Durosini I, Triberti S, Pravettoni G. The Efficacy of Psychological Intervention on Body Image in Breast Cancer Patients and Survivors: A Systematic-Review and Meta-Analysis. Front Psychol. 2021;12:611954.
- 134. Setyowibowo H, Yudiana W, Hunfeld JAM, Iskandarsyah A, Passchier J, Arzomand H, et al. Psychoeducation for breast cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Breast. 2022;62:36-51.
- 135. Mifsud A, Pehlivan MJ, Fam P, O'Grady M, van Steensel A, Elder E, et al. Feasibility and pilot study of a brief self-compassion intervention addressing body image distress in breast cancer survivors. Health Psychol Behav Med. 2021;9(1):498-526.
- Matchim Y, Armer JM, Stewart BR. Effects of mindfulness-based stress reduction (MBSR) on health among breast cancer survivors. West J Nurs Res. 2011;33(8):996-1016.

- 137. Abrahams HJG, Knoop H, Schreurs M, Aaronson NK, Jacobsen PB, Newton RU, et al. Moderators of the effect of psychosocial interventions on fatigue in women with breast cancer and men with prostate cancer: Individual patient data meta-analyses. Psychooncology. 2020;29(11):1772-85.
- 138. Lavallée JF, Abdin S, Faulkner J, Husted M. Barriers and facilitators to participating in physical activity for adults with breast cancer receiving adjuvant treatment: A qualitative metasynthesis. Psychooncology. 2019;28(3):468-76.
- Lika olika överallt en kartläggning av tillgängligheten till rehabilitering för bröstcancerpatienter. Cancerfonden och bröstcancerföreningen. 2021. [Cited: 2025-01-15]. Available from: https://staticfiles.cancerfonden.se/Lika%200lika%20%C3%B6verallt%20-%20En%20kartl%C3%A4ggning.pdf.
- Handberg C, Jensen CM, Maribo T. Lack of Needs Assessment in Cancer Survivorship Care and Rehabilitation in Hospitals and Primary Care Settings. J Clin Med Res. 2017;9(10):864-71.
- 141. Plate S, Emilsson L, Söderberg M, Brandberg Y, Wärnberg F. High experienced continuity in breast cancer care is associated with high health related quality of life. BMC Health Serv Res. 2018;18(1):127.
- 142. Handberg C, Thorne S, Maribo T. When a policy decision meets practice realities: The case of cancer survivorship care and rehabilitation needs assessment. Eur J Oncol Nurs. 2018;33:70-7.
- 143. Rapport: Cancerrehabilitering i Sverige. Nätverket mot cancer. 2023. [Cited: 2025-01-15]. Available from: https://www.natverketmotcancer.se/wpcontent/uploads/2023/04/230410_Final_Rapport_Kartlaggning-Cancerrehabilitering_Natverket-mot-cancer.pdf.
- 144. CancerRehabRapporten 2024. CancerRehabFonden. 2024. [Cited: 2025-01-15]. Available from: https://www.cancerrehabfonden.se/pics/contentPics/artiklar-2024/CancerRehabRapporten-2024.pdf <u>CancerRehabRapporten-2024.pdf</u>
- 145. Fiszer C, Dolbeault S, Sultan S, Brédart A. Prevalence, intensity, and predictors of the supportive care needs of women diagnosed with breast cancer: a systematic review. Psychooncology. 2014;23(4):361-74.
- 146. Lo-Fo-Wong DNN, de Haes H, Aaronson NK, van Abbema DL, den Boer MD, van Hezewijk M, et al. Risk factors of unmet needs among women with breast cancer in the post-treatment phase. Psychooncology. 2020;29(3):539-49.
- 147. Paltrinieri S, Cavuto S, Contri A, Bassi MC, Bravi F, Schiavi M, et al. Needs of breast cancer survivors: a systematic review of quantitative data. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2024;201:104432.
- 148. Uggla BK. En strävan efter sanningen. Vetenskapens teori och praktik. Lund: Studentlitteratur AB.; 2020.
- Craig P, Dieppe P, Macintyre S, Michie S, Nazareth I, Petticrew M. Developing and evaluating complex interventions: the new Medical Research Council guidance. BMJ. 2008;337:a1655.
- 150. Richards DA, Hallberg IR, editors. Complex interventions in health. An Overview of research methods. New York, NY: Routledge; 2015.

- 151. Skivington K, Matthews L, Simpson SA, Craig P, Baird J, Blazeby JM, et al. A new framework for developing and evaluating complex interventions: update of Medical Research Council guidance. Bmj. 2021;374:n2061.
- 152. Mertz BG, Dunn-Henriksen AK, Kroman N, Johansen C, Andersen KG, Andersson M, et al. The effects of individually tailored nurse navigation for patients with newly diagnosed breast cancer: a randomized pilot study. Acta Oncol. 2017;56(12):1682-9.
- 153. Olsson Möller U, Olsson IM, Sjövall K, Beck I, Rydén L, Malmström M. Barriers and facilitators for individualized rehabilitation during breast cancer treatment a focus group study exploring health care professionals' experiences. BMC Health Serv Res. 2020;20(1):252.
- 154. Olsson IM, Malmström M, Rydén L, Olsson Möller U. Feasibility and Relevance of an Intervention with Systematic Screening as a Base for Individualized Rehabilitation in Breast Cancer Patients: A Pilot Trial of the ReScreen Randomized Controlled Trial. J Multidiscip Healthc. 2022;15:1057-68.
- 155. Thabane L, Ma J, Chu R, Cheng J, Ismaila A, Rios LP, et al. A tutorial on pilot studies: the what, why and how. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2010;10:1.
- 156. Årsrapport 2023. Nationella kvalitetsregistret för bröstcancer (NKBC). 2023. [Available from: https://statistik.incanet.se/brostcancer/.
- 157. Denise F. Polit CTB. Nursing Research. Generating and Assessing Evidence for Nursing Practice: Wolters Kluwer; 2021. 839 p.
- 158. Malterud K. Qualitative research: standards, challenges, and guidelines. Lancet. 2001;358(9280):483-8.
- 159. Moser A, Korstjens I. Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 3: Sampling, data collection and analysis. Eur J Gen Pract. 2018;24(1):9-18.
- 160. Kreuger RA CM. Focus groups: a practical guide for applied research. 5th ed. Thousands Oaks: Sage publicationns; 2015.
- 161. Kidd PS, Parshall MB. Getting the focus and the group: enhancing analytical rigor in focus group research. Qual Health Res. 2000;10(3):293-308.
- Connor KM, Davidson JR. Development of a new resilience scale: the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC). Depress Anxiety. 2003;18(2):76-82.
- 163. Windle G, Bennett KM, Noyes J. A methodological review of resilience measurement scales. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2011;9:8.
- Lundman B, Strandberg G, Eisemann M, Gustafson Y, Brulin C. Psychometric properties of the Swedish version of the Resilience Scale. Scand J Caring Sci. 2007;21(2):229-37.
- 165. Velickovic K, Rahm Hallberg I, Axelsson U, Borrebaeck CAK, Rydén L, Johnsson P, et al. Psychometric properties of the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC) in a non-clinical population in Sweden. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2020;18(1):132.
- 166. Quality of Life Group Giving a voice to the patients. EORTC Quality of Life. [Cited: 2025-01-15] Available from: https://qol.eortc.org/.

- 167. Cocks K, Wells JR, Johnson C, Schmidt H, Koller M, Oerlemans S, et al. Content validity of the EORTC quality of life questionnaire QLQ-C30 for use in cancer. Eur J Cancer. 2023;178:128-38.
- Fayers PM AN, Bjordal K, Groenvold M, Curran D, Bottomley A. The EORTC QLQ-C30 Scoring Manual (3rd Edition). 2001.
- 169. Nguyen J, Popovic M, Chow E, Cella D, Beaumont JL, Chu D, et al. EORTC QLQ-BR23 and FACT-B for the assessment of quality of life in patients with breast cancer: a literature review. J Comp Eff Res. 2015;4(2):157-66.
- 170. Alvesson M, Sandberg J. Pre-understanding: An interpretation-enhancer and horizonexpander in research. Organization Studies. 2022;43(3):395-412.
- 171. Graneheim UH, Lundman B. Qualitative content analysis in nursing research: concepts, procedures and measures to achieve trustworthiness. Nurse Educ Today. 2004;24(2):105-12.
- 172. Hsieh HF, Shannon SE. Three approaches to qualitative content analysis. Qual Health Res. 2005;15(9):1277-88.
- 173. Graneheim UH, Lindgren BM, Lundman B. Methodological challenges in qualitative content analysis: A discussion paper. Nurse Educ Today. 2017;56:29-34.
- 174. Lindgren BM, Lundman B, Graneheim UH. Abstraction and interpretation during the qualitative content analysis process. Int J Nurs Stud. 2020;108:103632.
- 175. Ploos van Amstel FK, Tol J, Sessink KH, van der Graaf WTA, Prins JB, Ottevanger PB. A Specific Distress Cutoff Score Shortly After Breast Cancer Diagnosis. Cancer Nurs. 2017;40(3):E35-e40.
- 176. Mertz BG, Bistrup PE, Johansen C, Dalton SO, Deltour I, Kehlet H, et al. Psychological distress among women with newly diagnosed breast cancer. Eur J Oncol Nurs. 2012;16(4):439-43.
- 177. CD-RISC. The Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale [Cited: 2025-01-19] Available from: https://www.connordavidson-resiliencescale.com/about.php
- 178. Chowdhury MZI, Turin TC. Variable selection strategies and its importance in clinical prediction modelling. Fam Med Community Health. 2020;8(1):e000262.
- 179. Steyerberg EW. Clinical Prediction Models. A Practical Approach to Development, Validation, and Updating: Springer Nature Switzerland AG; 2019.
- Kirkwood BR. Sterne JAC. Essential Medical Statistics. 2nd edition. Malden: Blackwell Science Ltd; 2003.
- 181. Lag (2003:460) om etikprövning av forskning som avser människor. SFS 2003:460. 2003. Sveriges Riksdag. [Cited: 2025-01-19]. Available from: https://www.riksdagen.se/sv/dokument-lagar/dokument/svenskforfattningssamling/lag-2003460-om-etikprovning-av-forskning-som_sfs-2003-460
- 182. World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki: ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. Jama. 2013;310(20):2191-4.
- 183. WMA Declaration of Helsinki Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Participants. World Medical Association. 2024. [Cited: 2025-01-19]. Available from: https://www.wma.net/policies-post/wma-declaration-of-helsinki/

- 184. Beauchamp TL, Childress JF. Principles of Biomedical Ethics. 8th edition. New York: Oxford University Press; 2019.
- Lincoln YS, Guba EG. Naturalistic Inquiry. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications.; 1985.
- 186. Kazdin A. Research Design in Clinical Psychology Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2023.
- 187. Shenton AK. Strategies for Ensuring Trustworthiness in Qualitative Research Projects. Education for Information. 2004;22(2):63-75.
- 188. Dahlberg H, Dahlberg K. The question of meaning-a momentous issue for qualitative research. Int J Qual Stud Health Well-being. 2019;14(1):1598723.
- Elo S, Kääriäinen M, Kanste O, Pölkki T, Utriainen K, Kyngäs H. Qualitative Content Analysis: A Focus on Trustworthiness. Sage Open. 2014;4(1):2158244014522633.
- 190. Korstjens I, Moser A. Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 4: Trustworthiness and publishing. Eur J Gen Pract. 2018;24(1):120-4.
- Streiner DL, Norman GR, Cairney J. Health Measurement Scales A Practical Guide to Their Development and Use. 5th edition. New York: Oxford University Press; 2015.
- 192. Stout NL, Silver JK, Raj VS, Rowland J, Gerber L, Cheville A, et al. Toward a National Initiative in Cancer Rehabilitation: Recommendations From a Subject Matter Expert Group. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2016;97(11):2006-15.
- 193. Biddle L, Paramasivan S, Harris S, Campbell R, Brennan J, Hollingworth W. Patients' and clinicians' experiences of holistic needs assessment using a cancer distress thermometer and problem list: A qualitative study. Eur J Oncol Nurs. 2016;23:59-65.
- 194. Cheville AL, Kornblith AB, Basford JR. An examination of the causes for the underutilization of rehabilitation services among people with advanced cancer. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2011;90(5 Suppl 1):S27-37.
- 195. Head BA, Schapmire TJ, Keeney CE, Deck SM, Studts JL, Hermann CP, et al. Use of the Distress Thermometer to discern clinically relevant quality of life differences in women with breast cancer. Qual Life Res. 2012;21(2):215-23.
- 196. Ploos van Amstel FK, van den Berg SW, van Laarhoven HW, Gielissen MF, Prins JB, Ottevanger PB. Distress screening remains important during follow-up after primary breast cancer treatment. Support Care Cancer. 2013;21(8):2107-15.
- 197. Hiltrop K, Heidkamp P, Breidenbach C, Kowalski C, Streibelt M, Ernstmann N. Conflicting demands, coping, and adjustment: A grounded theory to understand rehabilitation processes in long-term breast cancer survivors. Psychooncology. 2021;30(11):1957-64.
- 198. Browall M, Mijwel S, Rundqvist H, Wengström Y. Physical Activity During and After Adjuvant Treatment for Breast Cancer: An Integrative Review of Women's Experiences. Integr Cancer Ther. 2018;17(1):16-30.

- 199. Drageset S, Lindstrøm TC, Ellingsen S. "I Have Both Lost and Gained." Norwegian Survivors' Experiences of Coping 9 Years After Primary Breast Cancer Surgery. Cancer Nurs. 2020;43(1):E30-e7.
- 200. Drageset S, Lindstrøm TC, Giske T, Underlid K. "The support I need": women's experiences of social support after having received breast cancer diagnosis and awaiting surgery. Cancer Nurs. 2012;35(6):E39-47.
- 201. Easley J, Miedema B. Rehabilitation after breast cancer: recommendations from young survivors. Rehabil Nurs. 2012;37(4):163-70.
- 202. Rafn BS, Midtgaard J, Camp PG, Campbell KL. Shared concern with current breast cancer rehabilitation services: a focus group study of survivors' and professionals' experiences and preferences for rehabilitation care delivery. BMJ Open. 2020;10(7):e037280.
- 203. Lunders C, Dillon EC, Mitchell D, Cantril C, Jones JB. The Unmet Needs of Breast Cancer Navigation Services: Reconciling Clinical Care With the Emotional and Logistical Challenges Experienced by Younger Women with Breast Cancer in a Healthcare Delivery System. J Patient Exp. 2023;10:23743735231171126.
- 204. Feighan L, MacDonald-Wicks L, Callister R, Surjan Y. Beyond pink ribbons: The unmet needs of women with breast cancer. J Med Radiat Sci. 2024.
- 205. Götz A, Kröner A, Jenewein J, Spirig R. Adherence to the distress screening through oncology nurses and integration of screening results into the nursing process to adapt psychosocial nursing care five years after implementation. Eur J Oncol Nurs. 2020;45:101725.
- 206. Raj VS, Pugh TM, Yaguda SI, Mitchell CH, Mullan SS, Garces NS. The Who, What, Why, When, Where, and How of Team-Based Interdisciplinary Cancer Rehabilitation. Semin Oncol Nurs. 2020;36(1):150974.

About the author



Ing-Marie Olsson is currently working as a contact nurse in cancer care at the Department of Surgery, Skåne University Hospital. In this thesis, the prerequisites for screening-based individualized rehabilitation following breast cancer diagnosis, treatment, and follow-up were investigated.



FACULTY OF MEDICINE

Department of Health Sciences

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2025:27 ISBN 978-91-8021-680-7 ISSN 1652-8220

